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Dear Daily Journal Shareholders, 
 
Fiscal 2025 was a strong year for the Company. I’m proud of the dedicated efforts of our entire team, who 
delivered record revenue by modernizing our pricing and other key aspects of our operations. We are 
seeing continued positive momentum at Journal Technologies, and are coupling cost discipline with 
systems optimization at our Traditional Publishing Business. Of course, thanks to the foresight and 
wisdom of our long-time Chairman, Charles T. Munger, both operating businesses are supported by a $493 
million portfolio of high-quality securities that gives us the ability to compete for bigger projects and invest 
excess cash in our people and our products, where sensible. We’re not done with our building and 
modernization efforts – but we’ve been making great progress.  
 

Our Annual Meeting on February 24, 2026 
 
I strongly recommend that you vote using the Company’s white proxy card to re-elect the Company’s full 
slate of directors and approve our proposals at the 2026 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Your support is 
particularly important this year because Buxton Helmsley, Inc. (“BuHeUI”)—evidently the registered holder 
of one share of the Company’s stock—is seeking to take control of your Board of Directors.  BuHeUI’s 
approach began as transparently self-interested with its CEO, Alexander Erwin Parker, making a demand 
for payment in exchange for suggesting an inappropriate way to inflate earnings through accounting 
changes. When that didn’t work, he shifted to personal attacks, threats of reputational ruin and a fixation 
on immaterial disclosure matters with no economic or operational significance. He has yet to articulate 
any sort of platform or alternative plans for the Company, and instead seems focused on his personal 
grievances. By contrast, current management and the Board (most all of whom were selected by Charlie 
based upon his confidence in their judgment and integrity) are continuing to execute on our long-term 
strategy towards creating compounding value for all shareholders. The best way for you to rebuke BuHeUI's 
bad behavior and support our existing strategy is by voting for the Company's full slate of directors without delay. 
 

Our Journal Technologies Business 
 
Eighty percent of our operating revenue now comes from Journal Technologies, which provides case 
management, e-filing, and related solutions to courts and related justice agencies in the United States, 
Canada and Australia. In fiscal year 2025, Journal Technologies’ revenues grew to approximately $70 
million, from $53.1 million in fiscal 2024—an increase of roughly 32%. Within that: 
 
 Licensing and maintenance revenues increased about 12%, to $31.7 million; 
 Consulting and implementation revenues increased roughly 51%, to $22.7 million; and 
 Other public service fees, including e-filing fees, increased about 59%, to $15.5 million. 

 
Operating expenses increased by about 12%, to $56.9 million, as we continued to invest in product, 
implementation capacity, and customer support. After these expenses, Journal Technologies generated 
pre-tax income of approximately $13.1 million, up from $2.5 million in fiscal 2024. These results were 
driven in part by two notable factors that provided a meaningful boost to both revenue and profit (one 
temporary, one sustainable).    
 
First, a significant aspect of the increased net income for fiscal 2025 was due to our shift to milestone-
based payments on our newer installation contracts—whereby we receive payment and recognize revenue 
along the way as the project progresses. However, while milestone-based payment projects are our new 
normal, we still have older contracts (some sizable) where we won’t receive payment or recognize revenue 
until final project go-live and customer acceptance. In fiscal 2025, we had some large older projects go-
live and we recognized several years of delivered services revenue all at once. In other words, some of our 
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fiscal 2025 performance is more the result of timing than specific, enduring improvements to our business 
model or margins. This should normalize over time as we convert as many of our contracts as possible to 
the milestone model.   
   
Second, the other notable contributor to increased fiscal 2025 profits was growth in e-filing revenue, 
including a long overdue increase in certain California e-filing fees from $1.95 to $3.50 per filing. Though 
this revenue stream is always subject to variability depending upon transaction volumes, it is expected to 
be an enduring source of improved margins.    
 
My favorite type of revenue remains the relatively predictable recurring license fees that customers pay to 
use our software, which grew by about 12% in 2025. Growing this recurring base, and keeping churn low by 
delivering reliable, well-supported products, remains central to our strategy. 
 
We are continuing to invest in our technology and the people and processes that build it. On the product 
side, we continue to 1) enhance and modernize our core framework so it remains competitive and efficient 
to implement, without compromising the flexibility that is a hallmark of our offerings, 2) address technical 
debt and optimize implementation approaches, 3) improve the user experience, documentation, and 
upgrade paths; and 4) incorporate sensible uses of AI to reduce friction and improve outcomes for courts 
and justice agencies. The benefits of these investments will take time, and we continue to expect near-
term negative impacts on future results. However, we believe they are necessary for our future and will 
eventually yield good – if uneven – returns on invested capital. It also seems unlikely that we can go wrong 
with a strategy based on building better products, delivering consistently for customers, strengthening our 
internal systems, and making Journal Technologies a compelling long-term workplace. 
 
What continues to excite us about the courts and justice agency sector is the unique blue ocean 
opportunity for an organization like ours to stand out and win over customers. As I’ve stated before, 
although it is a competitive space, in my estimation there isn’t any one company that appears to be 
knocking it out of the park right now in terms of delighting customers. If we elevate customer expectations 
by effectively executing the best practices of modern software companies, we can stand out and 
potentially capture the lead. This will remain our north star goal in this segment.  
 

Our Traditional Publishing Business 
 
About twenty percent of operating revenues in fiscal 2025 came from our traditional business of publishing 
newspapers and offering related services. Revenues increased to about $17.9 million, up roughly 6% from 
the prior year, driven mainly by higher advertising revenues. Circulation revenue declined modestly in 
dollar terms, largely attributable to long-term headwinds associated with a difficult media environment. 
On a reported basis, the traditional business showed a small pre-tax loss of approximately $0.5 million in 
fiscal 2025, compared to a modest profit in fiscal 2024. But that swing is not a story of operational 
deterioration. The traditional business did incur higher costs for merchant fees, display commissions and 
planned promotional spending tied to its higher revenue, but much of the difference was the result of 
increased non-operational parent company costs in fiscal 2025.  
 
Setting aside higher corporate costs, the traditional publishing business is doing remarkably well and 
generally met its 2025 plan: growing revenue and managing the costs it can control. Nonetheless, the 
strategic reality remains unchanged. Rather than making new material investments, our focus is on 
maximizing remaining possibilities for the existing business by working to provide value to an evolving 
subscriber base and managing costs with discipline, including via the use of new technologies like AI.  
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Our Portfolio of Marketable Securities 
 
Thanks entirely to the wise capital allocation philosophy of Mr. Munger, the Company holds a concentrated 
portfolio of marketable securities that has grown steadily over the years, and is now largely responsible for 
our strong balance sheet. As of September 30, 2025, the value of our marketable securities was 
approximately $493.0 million, compared to $358.7 million a year earlier. We recorded net realized and 
unrealized gains on these securities of about $134.3 million in fiscal 2025, compared to $96.1 million in 
fiscal 2024.  
 
We are not an investment company, nor a mini version of Berkshire Hathaway. Although some adjustments 
may be warranted over time in response to a changing world, we do not envision significant changes to the 
portfolio upcoming, which Charlie designed and intended to be held over the long-term. The primary 
purpose of this capital is to support the Company’s operating businesses, particularly Journal 
Technologies. 
 
We did not buy or sell any marketable securities during fiscal 2025, whereas in March 2024 we opted to sell 
approximately $40,500,000 of the portfolio to reduce our margin loan. Still, we continued to reduce our 
margin borrowings using available cash in fiscal 2025. At year-end, the margin balance was $22.0 million, 
down from $27.5 million at the end of fiscal 2024 and well below prior levels. Reducing this leverage lowers 
risk and interest expense. 
 

Operations in 2026 and Beyond 
 
In 2026 and beyond, our strategy at Journal Technologies is to build on our recent success by: 
 

• Growing the installed base and recurring revenue; 
• Improving implementation performance; and 
• Continuing to modernize the platform and our internal systems. 

 
For the Traditional Publishing Business, our operating priorities are based on a realistic view of the long-
term challenges facing newspapers and publishing in general.  We intend to: 
 

• Maximize our remaining economic value; 
• Manage costs carefully; and 
• Serve customers and employees responsibly. 

 
In terms of capital allocation and the Company’s portfolio of marketable securities, we aim to: 
 

• Steadily pay down our moderate leverage; 
• Stay patient; and  
• Be selective on any larger use of capital. 

 
We are not in a hurry to spend. We continue to track potential investment and acquisition opportunities in 
our space.  Some could make sense strategically, but acquisitions are easy to do badly and poorly chosen 
or poorly integrated deals can destroy more value than they create. Our approach is to build the integration 
capacity to handle a meaningful transaction while remaining disciplined about evaluating price, fit and 
complexity. We intend to move only when we are confident we can execute the post-transaction work 
without undermining the existing businesses. Until then, our default remains to invest primarily in our own 
products, people and customers. 
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Governance and Internal Controls 
 
The Board has been – and remains – focused on strengthening the Company’s internal controls over 
financial reporting, so that our finance and governance foundation matches the scale and complexity of 
our growing business. To address previously identified material weaknesses in our internal controls, the 
Board initiated remediation work in 2023 that is now nearly complete. Under the leadership of the Audit 
Committee, the Company tackled these weaknesses extensively in 2025, fully remediating a prior 
weakness related to insufficient accounting resources, and making significant progress in remediating the 
remaining two, which relate to segregation of duties and revenue review controls. The Company is 
confident in its ability to achieve full remediation of the remaining material weaknesses this year. 
 

Help Preserve the Company’s Strategic Focus on Sustained Value Creation 
 
I firmly believe that our operating and strategic priorities represent a compelling formula for sustained 
value creation. However, as I previously noted, a short-term and self-interested agitator is attempting to 
undermine the Company’s momentum. BuHeUI and Mr. Parker first sought to enrich themselves through a 
scheme to offer their “consulting services” based on an erroneous understanding of accounting rules.  
When the Company refused, BuHeUI and Mr. Parker started referring the Company and its auditor to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission based on nothing at all, and then began threatening directors and 
officers of the Company with retaliatory actions (such as disciplinary referrals to professional 
organizations) if they did not agree to co-operate with their scheme. And when that didn’t work, BuHeUI 
and Mr. Parker became the registered owner of one share of the Company’s stock after the record date for 
the Annual Meeting, and attempted to nominate a slate of director candidates to take over the Company’s 
Board without any sort of plan. 

 
We urge you to ignore any materials received from Buxton Helmsley and instead vote FOR the  

re-election of the Company’s current directors. 
 
In closing, we’re hosting our Annual Meeting on February 24, 2026 at our offices in Los Angeles, California. 
While this year may be unlike others, it is my hope we’ll be able to conduct necessary business and 
dispense with potential distractions so the Company can provide a business update and answer your 
questions pertaining to the agenda. I will be joined by my fellow directors and supported by members of 
our senior leadership team. They are an impressive group, and I am confident you will find their experience 
and focus on creating value for all shareholders to be an inspiring contrast to the modus operandi of 
BuHeUI and Mr. Parker. 
 
Yours truly, 
 

 
 
Steven Myhill-Jones 
Chairman & CEO 
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MARKET FOR THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK AND 
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 

The following table sets forth the sales prices of the Company’s common stock for the periods 
indicated. 

Quotations are as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market. 
 

 High Low 
Fiscal 2025   

Quarter ended December 31, 2024 $602.00 $463.00 
Quarter ended March 31, 2025 $596.60 370.00 
Quarter ended June 30, 2025 447.02 359.34 

Quarter ended September 30, 2025 502.30 384.02 

Fiscal 2024 
  

Quarter ended December 31, 2023 $357.34 $286.05 
Quarter ended March 31, 2024 402.95 309.22 
Quarter ended June 30, 2024 394.50 333.29 

Quarter ended September 30, 2024 512.49 387.00 

 
As of December 16, 2025, there were approximately 266 holders of record of the Company’s common 

stock, and the last trade was at $519.51 per share. 

The Company did not declare or pay any dividends during fiscal years 2025 or 2024. A determination by 
the Company whether or not to pay dividends in the future will depend on numerous factors, including the 
Company’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, future prospects, acquisition 
opportunities, and other relevant factors. The Board of Directors does not expect that the Company will 
pay any dividends or other distributions to shareholders in the foreseeable future. 

From time to time, the Company has repurchased shares of its common stock and may do so in the 
future. The Company maintains a common stock repurchase program that was implemented in 1987 in 
combination with the Company’s Management Incentive Plan. The Company’s stock repurchase program 
remains in effect, but the Company did not repurchase any shares during fiscal years 2025 and 2024. 
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THE COMPANY AND ITS DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 

Daily Journal Corporation (“Daily Journal” or “the Company”) publishes newspapers and 
websites covering California and Arizona news and produces several specialized information 
publications. It also serves as a newspaper representative specializing in public notice advertising. 
This is sometimes referred to as the Company’s “Traditional Business”. 

Journal Technologies, Inc. (“Journal Technologies”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, supplies case management software systems and related products to courts, 
prosecutor and public defender offices, probation departments and other justice agencies, 
including administrative law organizations, city and county governments and bar associations. 
These organizations use the Journal Technologies family of products to help manage cases and 
information electronically, to interface with other critical justice partners and to extend electronic 
services to the public, including e-filing and a website to pay traffic citations and fees online. These 
products are licensed or subscribed to in approximately 37 states, and internationally. 

Essentially all of the Company’s U.S. operations are based in California and Utah. The 
Company also has a presence in Australia where Journal Technologies is working on four software 
installation projects and in British Columbia, Canada, where the Company has operated a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Journal Technologies (Canada) Inc. since August 2022. 
 

Mary Conlin joined the Board of Directors in May 2019. She was the former Director and Head 
of Marketing & Corporate Communications for Pixar Animation Studios, an American computer 
animation studio and industry leader in technologically advanced computer-generated feature 
films. During her tenure at Pixar, Ms. Conlin worked closely with senior management on global 
brand and product strategy, corporate communications, and company-wide initiatives, and 
reported to Steve Jobs, Pixar’s co-founder and then-Chief Executive Officer. Prior to Pixar, Ms. 
Conlin worked at Warner Bros. Pictures as Director of International Distribution and Director of 
Worldwide Promotions for the theatrical division. She started her career in advertising at Young & 
Rubicam. Ms. Conlin is a director of The Beachbody Company, Inc., a publicly traded health, 
fitness, and wellness company offering subscription-based digital fitness and nutrition programs 
and nutritional supplements. She has served on the Audit and Compensation Committees of The 
Beachbody Company, Inc. since 2021. Since 2019, Ms. Conlin has served on the Board of Trustees 
of Viewpoint School, an independent, coeducational K-12 college-preparatory day school in 
Calabasas, California.  Ms. Conlin is also a member of the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and 
Sciences, an honor recognizing professional achievement and peer distinction in the film industry. 
 

John B. Frank joined the Board of Directors in February 2022. He has been Vice Chairman 
since 2014, and Director since 2007, of Oaktree Capital Group, LLC (“Oaktree Capital”), a global 
investment management company. He is one of six members of Oaktree Capital’s Executive 
Committee and was previously the firm’s principal executive officer. He also serves on the Board 
of Oaktree Specialty Lending Corporation, and formerly served on the Boards of Oaktree 
Acquisition Corporation, Oaktree Strategic Income Corporation, Oaktree Acquisition Corporation II 
and Oaktree Acquisition Corporation III. Mr. Frank was Oaktree Capital’s Managing Principal from 
2006 until 2014, having joined Oaktree Capital in 2001 as General Counsel. Prior to that he served 
as a partner of the law firm of Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP, where his practice focused on mergers 
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and acquisitions and general corporate counseling. Mr. Frank is also a director and member of the 
Audit Committee of Chevron Corporation, one of the world’s leading integrated energy companies. 
Mr. Frank is a trustee of the XPRIZE Foundation, The James Irvine Foundation, and The John 
Randolph Haynes and Dora Haynes Foundation, and a former long-time trustee of Good Samaritan 
Hospital, Polytechnic School and Wesleyan University. 
 

Steven Myhill-Jones has served as the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since 
October 2023, and he served as Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer beginning in March 
2022. Mr. Myhill-Jones is a Canada-based technology executive, entrepreneur and investor. He 
founded web-based geography software company Latitude Geographics in 1999, and served as its 
Chairman, President and CEO through September 2018. A year following its sale, Mr. Myhill-Jones 
departed and became an angel investor, and an advisor and mentor to technology businesses and 
entrepreneurs in his personal capacity and through his wholly owned company, SMJ Holdings Inc. 

 
Rasool Rayani joined the Board in June 2024. Since 2011, Mr. Rayani has served as President of 

Heart Pharmacy Group, a retail pharmacy group in Victoria, British Columbia, and a portfolio 
company of his family office. He has also served, since 2013, as a member of the Investment 
Committee of iNovia Capital, a venture capital firm, and previously served as an advisor to the 
British Columbia Investment Management Corporation’s Venture and Growth team, focusing on 
venture capital firms and direct investments. 

 
Erik Nakamura has served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial 

Officer since December 12, 2025. Prior to that, he served as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company’s subsidiary, Journal Technologies, Inc., since October 2024. Before joining the 
Company, Mr. Nakamura served in senior finance roles at a number of technology and software 
companies. He was the Chief Financial Officer at Orange Comet, Inc. from April 2022 to October 
2024; the Chief Financial Officer at Nogin, Inc. from September 2021 to April 2022; and the Chief 
Financial Officer at Dvele, Inc. from July 2019 to September 2021. Earlier in his career, he held 
senior finance positions at Roofstock, Inc. and The Cooper Companies, Inc. (including its 
subsidiary CooperVision), and he began his career as an auditor at KPMG. 

 
DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A 
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended. Certain statements contained in this document, including but not limited to those in 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” are 
“forward-looking” statements that involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual future 
events or results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. 
Words such as “expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “should,” “believes,” “will,” “plans,” 
“estimates,” “may,” variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such 
forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to revise any forward-looking 
statements whether as a result of new information, future developments, or otherwise. There are 
many factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements. These factors include, among others: risks associated with software 
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development and implementation efforts, and disruptive new technologies like artificial 
intelligence; Journal Technologies’ reliance on professional services engagements with justice 
agencies; material changes in the costs of postage and paper; additional possible changes in the 
law, particularly changes limiting or eliminating the requirements for public notice advertising; 
possible loss of the adjudicated status of the Company’s newspapers and their legal authority to 
publish public notice advertising; a decline in subscriber revenues; possible security breaches of 
the Company’s software or websites; changes in accounting guidance; material weaknesses in the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and declines in the market prices of the 
securities owned by the Company. In addition, such statements could be affected by general 
industry and market conditions, general economic conditions (particularly in California) and other 
factors. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking 
statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been 
correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the 
forward-looking statements are discussed in this report, including in conjunction with the forward-
looking statements themselves. Additional information concerning factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained from time to 
time in documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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EXCERPTS FROM THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K 
 
Products and Services 
  
Traditional Business 
  

Newspapers and related online publications. The Company publishes 10 newspapers of general 
circulation. Each newspaper, in addition to news of interest to the general public, has a particular area of in-
depth focus for its news coverage, attracting readers interested in obtaining specific information through a 
newspaper format. 
  

The publications are based in the following cities: 
  

  Newspaper publications Base of publication 
  Los Angeles Daily Journal Los Angeles, California 
  San Francisco Daily Journal San Francisco, California 
  Daily Commerce Los Angeles, California 
  The Daily Recorder Sacramento, California 
  The Inter-City Express Oakland, California 
  San Jose Post-Record San Jose, California 
  Orange County Reporter Santa Ana, California 
  The Daily Transcript San Diego, California 
  Business Journal Riverside, California 
  The Record Reporter Phoenix, Arizona 

  
The Daily Journals. The Los Angeles Daily Journal and the San Francisco Daily Journal (together, “The 

Daily Journals”) are each published every weekday except certain holidays and were established in 1888 and 
1893, respectively. In addition to covering state and local news of general interest, these newspapers focus 
on law and its impact on society. Generally, The Daily Journals seek to be of special use to lawyers and 
judges. 
  

The Los Angeles Daily Journal is the largest newspaper published by the Company, both in terms of 
revenues and circulation. As of September 30, 2025, the Los Angeles Daily Journal had approximately 3,636 
paid subscribers and the San Francisco Daily Journal had approximately 2,045 paid subscribers as compared 
to total paid subscriptions for both of The Daily Journals of 5,687 as of September 30, 2024.  The Daily 
Journals carry commercial advertising (display and classified) and public notice advertising required or 
permitted by law to be published in a newspaper of general circulation. The main source of commercial 
advertising revenue has been law firms and businesses wishing to reach the legal professional community.  
  

The Daily Journals include the Daily Appellate Report, providing full text and case summaries of all 
opinions certified for publication by the California Supreme Court, the California Courts of Appeal, the U.S. 
Supreme Court, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit and the U.S. Bankruptcy Appellate Panel for 
the Ninth Circuit. The Daily Journals also include a monthly court directory in booklet form. This directory 
includes a comprehensive list of sitting judges in all California courts as well as courtroom assignments, 
phone numbers and courthouse addresses, plus a list of judicial appointments, elevations, confirmations, 
resignations, retirements and deaths. 
  

The Daily Journals are distributed by mail and hand delivery. The regular yearly subscription rate for each 
of The Daily Journals is $895 plus tax. 
  

Most of the information published in The Daily Journals is available to subscribers online at 
www.dailyjournal.com. 
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Daily Commerce. Published since 1917, the Daily Commerce is based in Los Angeles and covers news of 

general interest, columns of interest to real estate investors and brokers, and information on distressed 
properties in Los Angeles County. The nature of the news coverage enhances the effectiveness of public 
notice advertising by distributing information about foreclosures to potential buyers. Features include 
default listings and probate sale notices. The Daily Commerce carries both public notice and commercial 
advertising. It is published each business day. A subscription includes online access to the Los Angeles and 
Ventura County foreclosure listings and public record database. 
  

The Daily Recorder. The Daily Recorder, based in Sacramento, began operations in 1911. It is published 
each business day. In addition to general news items, it includes legal news and columns of interest to the 
Sacramento legal and real estate communities. It includes the Daily Appellate Report and carries 
commercial and public notice advertising. A subscription includes online access to Sacramento, Placer and 
El Dorado county foreclosure listings and public record database. 
  

The Inter-City Express. The Inter-City Express (the “Express”) has been published since 1909. It covers 
general news of local interest and focuses its coverage on news about the real estate and legal communities 
in the Oakland/San Francisco area. The Express carries public notice advertising and is published each 
business day. A subscription includes online access to the Alameda, Contra Costa, Stanislaus, and San 
Francisco county foreclosure listing and public record database. 
  

San Jose Post-Record. The San Jose Post-Record (the “Post-Record”) has been published since 1910. In 
addition to general news of local interest, the Post-Record focuses on legal and real estate news. It is 
published every business day and carries public notice advertising. A subscription includes online access to 
the Santa Clara and San Francisco county foreclosure listing and public record database. 
  

Orange County Reporter. The Orange County Reporter (“Reporter”) has been an adjudicated newspaper 
of general circulation since 1922 in Orange County, California. In addition to general news of local interest, 
the Reporter publishes local and state legal, business and real estate news, and carries public notice 
advertising. The Reporter is published three days a week. A subscription includes online access to the 
Orange County foreclosure listings and public record database. 
  

The Daily Transcript. The Daily Transcript is based in San Diego and published each business day. It 
reports general news items and San Diego commercial real estate, business and construction news. It has 
been an adjudicated newspaper of general circulation since 1909. It carries commercial and public notice 
advertising. A subscription includes online access to the San Diego County foreclosure listings and public 
record database. 
  

Business Journal. The Business Journal, established in 1991, publishes news of general interest and 
provides coverage of the business and professional communities in Riverside County. It also carries public 
notice advertising and is published each business day. The subscription includes online access to the 
Riverside and San Bernardino County foreclosure listings and public record database. 
  

The Record Reporter (Arizona). The Record Reporter has been in existence since 1914. In addition to 
general news of local interest, The Record Reporter, which is published three days a week, focuses on legal 
news and public record information and carries primarily public notice advertising. The subscription includes 
online access to the Maricopa and Pinal County public record database. 
  

Information Services. The specialized information services offered by the Company have grown out of its 
newspaper operations or have evolved in response to requests of its newspaper subscribers. 
  

The Company has several court rules services, including multi-volume, loose-leaf sets for state and 
federal courts in California. The Company updates these court rules on a monthly basis. In addition, the 
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Company publishes single-volume rules for Los Angeles and San Diego counties. 
  

The Judicial Profiles service contains information concerning nearly all active judges in California. The 
Judicial Profiles include an interview-based article previously published in The Daily Journals and 
biographical data. Subscribers may purchase the ten-volume set for Southern California, the eight-volume 
set for Northern California or individual profiles online. 
  

Other revenues are attributable to fees from attorneys taking continuing legal education tests published 
in The Daily Journals and online, and other miscellaneous fees including reprint services of articles published 
in The Daily Journals. 

 
 Journal Technologies  
  

Journal Technologies provides case management software and related services to courts and other 
justice agencies.  Its operations constituted approximately 80% and 76% of the Company’s total revenues in 
fiscal years 2025 and 2024, respectively.  Journal Technologies earns revenues from license, maintenance 
and support fees paid by customers to use its software products; hosting services; consulting fees paid by 
customers for installation, implementation and training services; and fees generated by the use of secure 
websites through which the general public can pay traffic citations and e-file cases.  Journal Technologies 
has the following product solutions based on the Company’s core eSeries Framework™ technology: 
  

eCourt®, eProsecutor™, eDefender™ and eSupervision™ (formerly eProbation™) ― browser-based case 
processing systems that can be used by courts and other justice agencies for all case types because the 
screens, data elements, business rules, work queues, searches and alerts are highly configurable.  
  

Journal Technologies offers other, complementary products including: 
  

eFile-it™ ― a browser-based interface that allows attorneys and the general public to electronically file 
documents with the court. 
  

ePay-it™ ― a service primarily for the online payment of traffic citations.  Users can pay traffic citations 
by credit card and get information on traffic school. 
  

In addition, Journal Technologies also provides hosting services through AWS GovCloud for customers 
who choose to have it. 
  

Almost all of Journal Technologies’ customers are government agencies, and most new software 
installation and licensing projects are subject to competitive bidding procedures. Accordingly, the ability of 
Journal Technologies to secure new customers is highly unpredictable. In addition, budget constraints, 
especially during stressful economic times, could force governmental agencies to defer or forgo consulting 
services or even to stop paying their annual software maintenance fees. 
  

The Company’s revenues from Journal Technologies’ foreign customers were approximately 
$11.9 million in fiscal year 2025 and $6.2 million in fiscal year 2024. 
  
Marketing 
  

The Company actively promotes its individual newspapers and its multiple newspaper network as well as 
its other publications. The specialization of each publication creates both target subscribers and target 
advertisers. Subscribers are likely to be attracted because of the nature of the information carried by the 
particular publication, and likely advertisers are those interested in reaching such consumer groups. In 
marketing products, the Company also focuses on its ancillary products which can be of service to 
subscribers, such as its specialized information services. 
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The Company receives, on a non-exclusive basis, public notice advertising from a number of service 

providers. Such agencies ordinarily receive a commission of 15% to 25% on their sales of advertising in 
Company and other publications. Commercial advertising agencies also place advertising in Company 
publications and receive commissions for advertising sales. 
 

Journal Technologies’ staff includes employees who are focused on marketing with the intention of 
growing market share over time, via additional consulting projects and licensing of products. Most of Journal 
Technologies’ new projects come from a competitive bidding process, but it is nonetheless important to 
communicate the Company’s offerings to potential customers at trade shows and other channels; 
understanding what is possible can inform requirements and build confidence over the buying process. 
  
Competition 
  

Competition for readers and advertisers is very competitive, both from established publications and new 
entries into the market.  The Daily Journals face aggressive competition in Los Angeles and San Francisco.  All 
of the Company’s publications and products face strong competition from other publications and service 
companies.  Readers of specialized newspapers focus on the amount and quality of general and specialized 
news, amount and type of advertising, timely delivery and price. The Company designs its newspapers to fill 
niches in the news marketplace that are not covered as well by major metropolitan dailies. The in-depth 
news coverage which the Company's newspapers provide, along with general news coverage, attracts 
readers who, for personal or professional reasons, desire to keep abreast of topics to which a major 
newspaper cannot devote significant news space. Other newspapers do provide some of the same subject 
coverage, but the Company believes its coverage, particularly that of The Daily Journals, is more 
comprehensive. The Company believes that The Daily Journals are the most important newspapers serving 
California lawyers on a daily basis. 
  

The Company's court rules publications face competition from case management systems and the 
courts themselves. Subscriptions to the single and multi-volume court rules continued to decline during 
fiscal year 2024 and 2025. The Company's Judicial Profile services have indirect competition because some 
of the same information is available through other sources, including the courts. 
  

The newspaper industry continues to experience significant secular decline.  The Company believes the 
subscriptions to the Company’s publications and the amount of advertising will decline over the long term, 
and those trends will adversely impact the Company’s future revenues. 
  

In attracting commercial advertisers, the Company competes with other newspapers and magazines, 
television, radio and other media, including electronic and online systems for employment-related classified 
advertising. Factors which may affect competition for advertisers are the cost for such advertising compared 
with other media, and the size and characteristics of the readership of the Company’s publications. Internet 
sites devoted to personnel recruitment have become significant competitors of our newspapers and 
websites for classified advertising. 
  

In addition, there has been a steady consolidation of companies serving the legal marketplace, resulting 
in an ever-smaller group of companies placing display advertising. Consequently, retaining advertising 
revenues remains a challenge. To reduce costs, the Company has contracted with an outside advertising 
agency to conduct sales of its display advertising. 
  

The Company competes with at least one significant competitor for public notice advertising revenue in 
each of its markets. Large metropolitan general interest newspapers typically do not carry a significant 
amount of legal advertising, although recently they too have solicited certain types of public notice 
advertising. 
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Remaining competitive requires periodic investment in technology to ensure modern patterns are 
followed; Journal Technologies has begun developing next-generation development patterns and practices to 
address technical debts that exist within current generation offerings. 

  
As artificial intelligence (AI) is gaining widespread adoption, many of our competitors are rapidly 

incorporating AI capabilities into their offerings to maintain a technological advantage. We have already 
introduced AI features in some of our products, and to continue delivering value to our customers and 
outpacing the competition, we must further invest in these cutting-edge technologies. 
  

Journal Technologies faces significant competition in the markets for case management software and 
related services for courts, prosecutors, and other justice agencies. These markets are characterized by a 
limited number of vendors competing for a finite number of large procurements. Customers frequently select 
vendors through formal competitive bidding processes and may impose mandatory requirements or strong 
preferences for certain capabilities, architectures, implementation approaches, prior experience, or vendor 
qualifications. If we are unable to compete successfully for new business, renewals, or expansions, our 
revenues, operating results, and growth prospects could be materially adversely affected. 

  
In the court market, certain competitors have substantially greater scale, longer operating histories, and 

deeper penetration in particular jurisdictions and customer segments. Some competitors have long-standing 
experience with statewide implementations, while statewide deployments are a more recent strategic focus 
for us. Even where our technology and implementation approach are well-suited to complex deployments, 
prospective customers may perceive established vendors as a lower-risk choice based on historical 
presence or perceived execution “safety.” If we are unable to win and then deliver larger statewide projects 
on competitive terms and timelines, our future revenues, operating results, and long-term growth could be 
materially adversely affected. 

  
In the prosecutor market, we compete with small and mid-sized vendors that focus on higher volumes of 

smaller, more price-sensitive agencies. While our platform is well-established for larger prosecuting 
agencies and more complex operational environments, smaller offices may prefer lower-cost offerings even 
when those offerings provide fewer features or less configurability. If we are not successful in developing, 
pricing, and marketing simpler hosted solutions that can be deployed more quickly while meeting the needs 
of smaller agencies, we may be less able to win new customers and retain or expand within that segment, 
which could materially adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. 

  
We also compete with specialized vendors in adjacent or niche justice verticals that may offer highly 

focused, turnkey solutions or adopt new technologies (including artificial intelligence-enabled capabilities) 
more quickly than we do. In addition, because we have finite development capacity and must prioritize 
among competing product and customer demands, we may be slower than competitors—particularly 
startups focused on a single problem area—to develop, integrate, and commercialize certain add-on 
capabilities, modules, or integrations that could otherwise represent incremental revenue opportunities. If 
competitors deliver such capabilities earlier, more effectively, or at lower cost, we may experience reduced 
win rates, lower expansion revenue, increased pricing pressure, or higher customer attrition, any of which 
could materially adversely affect our operating results. 

  
Geopolitical developments, changes in trade policy, or related uncertainty may also affect procurement 

behavior in international markets. In certain jurisdictions, prospective customers may prefer local vendors or 
exhibit reluctance to contract with United States-based companies. If such preferences materially limit our 
ability to compete for international opportunities, our international growth strategy and future operating 
results could be adversely affected. 

  
Employees 
  

The Company had approximately 415 full-time employees and contractors and approximately 9 part-



15  

time employees as of September 30, 2025. The Company is not a party to any collective bargaining 
agreements. Certain benefits, including medical insurance, are provided to all full-time employees. 
Management considers its employee relations to be good. 
  
Working Capital 
  

The Company owns marketable securities that provide the Company with working capital in addition to 
its cash flow from operations, subject to the normal risks associated with owning securities. To a 
considerable extent, the Company also benefits from the fact that subscriptions and some licenses, 
maintenance and customer support are paid in advance. 
  

In fiscal year 2024, the Company sold a portion of its marketable securities for approximately $40.6 
million and used these proceeds and excess cash from operations to pay down the margin loan balance to 
$27.5 million as of September 30, 2024. In fiscal year 2025, no marketable securities were sold, but the 
margin loan principal balance was paid down by $5.5 million to $22.0 million as of September 30, 2025, using 
excess cash from operations. 
  

The Company believes it has sufficient cash and marketable securities to support its operations for the 
foreseeable future.  If the Company’s overall cash needs exceed cash flow and its current working capital, 
the Company may still have the ability to borrow against its marketable securities on favorable terms, or it 
may attempt to secure additional financing, which may or may not be available on acceptable terms. 
  

The Company extends unsecured credit to most of its advertising customers and some government 
agencies. The Company maintains a reserve account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of these 
customers to make required payments, but if the financial conditions of these customers were to deteriorate 
or the Company’s judgments about their abilities to pay are incorrect, additional allowances might be 
required, and the Company’s cash flows and results of operations could be materially affected. 
  
Inflation 
  

The Company has experienced the effects of inflation primarily through increases in costs of personnel. 
These costs have generally been offset by increased license, maintenance and support fees, which often 
contain a periodic cost-of-living adjustment. 
  

The Company’s investment margin account has an interest rate that fluctuates based on the Federal 
Funds Rate plus 50 basis points with interest only payable monthly.  The interest rate as of September 30, 
2025 was 4.75%. The Company’s interest expense on the margin account has decreased primarily due to the 
reduction to the investment margin account borrowings during fiscal year 2025. 
  
Access to Our Information 
  

The Company files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements, and other information with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These filings are available on the SEC’s website at 
www.sec.gov. In addition, our SEC filings, as well as our Code of Ethics and other investor materials, are 
available free of charge through the Investor Relations section of our website at https://ir.dailyjournal.com/. 
  

We will also provide copies of these filings, without charge, in electronic or paper form upon request to 
our Secretary at our principal executive offices. Information contained on, or accessible through, our 
websites is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report unless expressly stated otherwise. 
  
Risk Factors 
  

The foregoing business discussion and the other information included in this Form 10-K should be read in 
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conjunction with the following risks, trends and uncertainties, any of which, either individually or in the 
aggregate, could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition. 
  
Risks Associated with the Maturation of Artificial Intelligence (AI) Technologies 
  

The Company’s business may be materially affected--either positively or negatively--by the emergence of 
disruptive new technologies or approaches enabled by the rapid pace of innovation unfolding in the artificial 
intelligence space.  
  

Worthwhile new technologies capitalize on eliminating old inefficiencies. Just as the emergence and 
maturation of the Internet and smartphone technologies had profound implications across many industries, 
AI has the potential to significantly change key factors related to the Traditional Business, Journal 
Technologies, and companies in the Company’s holdings of marketable securities. 
  

For the Traditional Business, there may be new and additional opportunities to automate or reduce the 
cost of content creation and doing business, or allow monetization of existing and/or historic content in new 
ways. Likewise, AI may negatively impact the business in ways that will prove difficult to circumvent. 
  

For Journal Technologies, use of AI may fundamentally alter or automate key customer workflows over 
time, obviating the need for its technology. AI will likely also create new and better ways for customers to 
achieve their mandates, of which the Company is positioning to play a valuable role. The Company is 
allocating resources to pursue these opportunities, through in-house engineering, and may also do so 
through partnerships, or mergers and acquisitions. Whether it will be successful is uncertain. 
  

The process and approach to engineering software itself may change in notable ways, and this could 
impact the underlying business model of Journal Technologies. Monitoring potential impacts of AI on 
companies in the marketable securities portfolio will also require ongoing attention. 
  

Mitigating risk and capitalizing on potential opportunity requires active engagement. The Company’s 
challenge is to find and exploit opportunities to ensure change precipitated by AI provides tailwinds and not 
headwinds, and to do so in a way that is neither too slow, nor premature. 
  
Risks Associated with the Traditional Business 
  

Changes in the legal requirement to publish public notice advertising or in the legal ability of our 
newspapers to publish those notices would have a significant adverse impact on the Traditional Business. 
  

From time to time, the legislatures in California and Arizona (and elsewhere) have considered and/or 
implemented various proposals that would result in the elimination or reduction of the amount of public 
notice advertising in printed newspapers required by statute. These proposals typically focus on the 
availability of alternative means of providing public notices, such as via the Internet. Some proposals also 
question the need for public notices at all. As noted above, some of these proposals have already become 
law. To the extent more of these proposals are adopted, particularly in California and Arizona, they could 
materially adversely affect the revenues of the Traditional Business. 
  

In September 2023, the California legislature passed a bill (AB542) effective January 1, 2024 that set in 
motion a decline in legal advertising revenue of approximately $14,000 during fiscal year 2024 by reducing 
the number of required publication days in a newspaper for self-service storage facility lien sales.  Another 
bill (AB721) relative to school budget hearing notices was also passed in September 2023. Effective January 
1, 2027, these notices are to be moved to posting on the school district’s website in lieu of being published in 
a newspaper. 
  

In addition, if the adjudication, which is what gives publishers the legal ability to publish public notice 
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advertising, of one or more of the Company’s newspapers were challenged and revoked, those newspapers 
would no longer be eligible to publish public notice advertising, and it could materially affect the revenues of 
the Traditional Business. 
  

The Traditional Business faces strong competition in each of its markets. 
  

Competition for readers and advertisers is very competitive, both from established publications and 
from new entrants into the market.  The Daily Journals face aggressive competition.  The Company’s court 
rules publications face competition in both Northern and Southern California from document management 
programs, online court rules services, and the courts themselves.  
  

The Traditional Business also competes with serious competitors for public notice advertising in all of its 
markets. As the amount of this advertising has decreased due to the reduction in the number of foreclosures 
and other things discussed above, the competition to publish the remaining public notices has intensified 
and may result in a further decline in the Traditional Business’ public notice advertising revenues. 
  

The Traditional Business continues to experience challenges in maintaining its commercial advertising 
and circulation revenues, particularly due to the growth of Internet sites. 
  
         Internet sites devoted to recruitment have become significant competitors of our newspapers and 
websites for classified advertising. In addition, there has been a steady consolidation of companies serving 
the legal marketplace, resulting in an ever-smaller group of companies placing display advertising. 
Furthermore, newspapers like ours have been struggling to compete for display advertising generally, given 
the many other forums (including Internet sites) that compete for advertising dollars. These trends are 
expected to continue and adversely affect the Traditional Business. 
  

During fiscal year 2025, the Company reported an overall decrease of $0.2 million (4%) in circulation 
revenue. This reduction was mainly driven by a $0.3 million decline in paper circulation revenue, while digital 
circulation revenue saw a partial offset with a $0.1 million increase. The decline is largely attributed to lower 
revenue per subscriber, a result of implementing alternative pricing strategies to support subscriber 
retention. This development further reflects the ongoing challenges within the media industry. 
  

The Traditional Business is exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in postage and paper costs. 
  

After personnel costs, postage and paper costs are typically the Traditional Business next two largest 
expenses.  An adequate supply of newsprint and other paper is important to the operations of the Traditional 
Business.  The Company currently does not have a contract with any paper supplier, and in the past, 
shortages of newsprint sometimes resulted in higher prices.  Recently, there have been consolidations of 
newsprint suppliers, and paper prices may fluctuate substantially in the future or otherwise be affected by 
tariffs and/or changes to trade agreements. 

  
The Traditional Business uses the U.S. Postal Service for distribution of a majority of its newspapers and 

products. Postal rates are dependent on the operating efficiency of the U.S. Postal Service and on legislative 
mandates imposed upon the U.S. Postal Service. During the past several years, postal rates have increased. 
Postal rates and fees may increase more in the future. Further, we may not be able to pass on increases in 
paper and postage costs to our customers. 
  

We expect the Traditional Business to continue to suffer from significant secular decline. 
  

The newspaper industry continues to experience significant secular decline. The Company believes the 
long-term trend will be in the direction of fewer subscriptions to the Daily Journals and court rule 
publications, and that trend will certainly impact the Company’s future revenues. 
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Risks Associated with Journal Technologies 
  

The success of Journal Technologies depends in large part on the technological update and upgrade of 
its software products. 
  

Journal Technologies’ success depends on the continued improvement of its products, and the costs to 
update and upgrade those products consistently represent a large portion of Journal Technologies’ 
expenses. There are many uncertainties in the process of courts and other justice agencies migrating to 
newer case management systems, including whether Journal Technologies’ versions of these systems will 
find general acceptance and whether the modification of such systems can be done in a cost-effective 
manner. Under the relevant accounting guidance, the costs to update and upgrade Journal Technologies’ 
products are generally expensed as incurred and will impact earnings at least through the foreseeable future. 
The Company continues to invest in the development of new and next-generation technology as part of its 
broader product strategy. Likewise, investment is required to improve existing technology to simplify the 
process of configuring, managing and updating systems (and related obligations including documentation, 
user experience improvements, and more). These investments are being made to both improve win rates and 
maximize the efficiency of building and deploying customer systems. The intention is to improve profitability, 
but if foundational development is not done effectively, it may not yield the expected competitive advantages 
or intended efficiencies. 
  

Journal Technologies faces significant competition from other case management software vendors. 
  

There is significant competition among a limited number of companies to provide services and software 
to courts and other justice agencies, and some of these companies are much larger and have greater access 
to capital and other resources than Journal Technologies. Normally, the vendor is selected through a bidding 
process, and often the customers will express a specific preference for, or effectively require, larger vendors 
having completed similar types of projects. An inability to successfully compete in this difficult market could 
materially affect the earnings of Journal Technologies. Likewise, specialized vendors in specific vertical 
markets may develop or continue to enhance specific solutions for certain customer types that are 
sufficiently focused and turnkey, or leverage disruptive new approaches, that Journal Technologies will 
struggle to compete with them.   
 

The customers of Journal Technologies are public sector entities, thus creating unique issues and risks. 
  

Almost all of the customers of Journal Technologies are courts, justice agencies, and other government 
entities. Accordingly, we face unique risks associated with governmental budget constraints, especially 
during challenging economic times, which could force government entities to defer or forego consulting 
services or even stop paying their annual software license and maintenance fees. In addition, economic 
conditions could affect our ability to win new customers as a result of heightened competition for new 
business following a decrease in new initiatives available for bidding. We encounter risks related to a longer 
and more complicated sales cycle than exists for commercial customers, political issues related to resource 
allocation, administration turnover and preferences for internal case management solutions or for a 
particular vendor, complicated bidding procedures, and fluctuations in the demand for information 
technology products and services. Project success frequently involves dependencies on customers or third-
party vendors/partners completing their responsibilities in an organized, workmanlike, and timely fashion. 
  

Journal Technologies generally recognizes revenues for software installations only upon completion of 
the applicable services and customer acceptance of the software system. 
  

Although the company has transitioned to a milestone-based system in recent years, installation fees 
have traditionally been payable only when the customer confirms satisfaction with the installed system and 
it is operational, or upon achievement of designated milestones. 



19  

 Accordingly, for these projects we do not recognize revenues for such installation services or for most 
other consulting services until after the services have been performed and accepted. There are significant 
risks associated with our ability to complete our services to the satisfaction of our customers and to fulfill the 
requirements that entitle us to be paid. An inability to realize payment for services performed could 
materially affect the earnings of Journal Technologies. Additional costs may not be recoverable for historic 
projects with flexible scopes or scopes that are subject to interpretation, or projects that require 
adjustments due to technology changes that occur due to the passage of time. 
  

The end-of-life process for legacy products and customer transitions to new products must be handled 
effectively. 
  

Disruptions that affect long-standing customer relationships can have negative reputational implications 
for Journal Technologies and can affect its earnings. 
  
Risks Associated with Our Holdings of Marketable Securities 
  

A large portion of the Company’s assets are held in publicly traded securities, and the prices of those 
securities may decline. 
  

As of September 30, 2025, the Company held marketable securities worth approximately $493.0 million, 
with a cumulative unrealized gain of $353.9 million for financial statement purposes.  While this portfolio has 
enabled the Company to borrow on favorable terms for acquisitions and to better compete for case 
management software opportunities that are usually limited to “large” firms, it is unusual for a public 
company to invest a significant amount of its available cash in the marketable securities of other public 
companies.  The value of these securities could decline, which would adversely affect net income and 
shareholders’ equity. 
  

As of September 30, 2025, the Company’s holdings of marketable securities were concentrated in just 
six companies. Accordingly, a significant decline in the market value of one or more of the Company’s 
holdings may not be offset by hypothetically better performance of other holdings. This concentration of risk 
may result in a pronounced effect on net income and shareholders’ equity. 
  

The irreplaceable manager of our marketable securities portfolio passed away in November 2023. 
 
Charles T. Munger, the legendary investor of Berkshire Hathaway fame, was a director of the Company 

for many decades, and long managed the Company’s holdings of marketable securities. Mr. Munger passed 
away on November 28, 2023. Although the Board has been working to ensure that the portfolio remains well-
managed, it’s impossible to ever replace Mr. Munger. Given the loss of Mr. Munger, the Company does not 
expect the future financial performance of its marketable securities portfolio to rival its past performance. 
Henceforth, the Company expects to manage and harvest its marketable securities portfolio primarily to 
support the further development of Journal Technologies and its business. The Company does not anticipate 
initiating new investments in public common stocks unrelated to its core businesses. 
  

The Company may be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates for marketable securities that are 
not denominated in the United States Dollar. 
  

At times, the Company may hold marketable securities denominated in currencies other than the United 
States Dollar.  When it does, the Company may be at risk for significant fluctuations in the applicable foreign 
currency exchange rates, which would affect the profitability of such marketable securities. 
  
General Corporate Risks 
  

Changes in accounting guidance could have a significant effect on the Company’s reported financial 
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results. 
  

Preparing consolidated financial statements requires the Company’s management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These 
estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies and the 
prevailing accounting guidance. The Company considers fair value measurement and disclosures, revenue 
recognition, accounting for software costs and income taxes to be critical accounting policies and estimates. 
A change in the accounting guidance with respect to one or more of these areas could materially affect the 
Company’s reported financial results. 
  

As noted above, beginning in fiscal year 2019, changes in unrealized gains (losses) on marketable 
securities are included in the Company’s net income (loss) and thus may have a significant impact on the 
Company’s reported results depending on the fluctuations of the prices of the marketable securities owned 
by the Company. 
  

A third party has initiated a campaign against the Company that may include a proxy contest and 
litigation, which could be expensive and further divert the attention of management and the Board from the 
Company’s operations. 
  

In the summer of 2025, a third-party investment adviser sent a series of letters to the Company alleging—
incorrectly—that we should be capitalizing rather than expensing Journal Technologies’ software 
development costs. This third party resurfaced with even more letters in December 2025 and has threatened, 
among other things, to initiate a proxy contest to replace members of the Board unless we engage with him 
and enter into a “cooperation agreement.”  Responding to third parties like this can be costly and time-
consuming, may divert the attention of management and our Board from executing on our strategy, and could 
require us to incur significant legal, advisory, and other professional fees. A public fight could also create 
uncertainty among our employees and customers, harm our reputation, disrupt our operations, and increase 
volatility in our stock price. Any of these factors could materially adversely affect our business and financial 
results, even if the underlying accounting allegations have no merit. 
  

We cannot be sure that customer information and systems are fully protected against security breaches.   
  

Journal Technologies’ software processes and stores customer information in the conduct of its 
business, including in some cases by utilizing cloud-based systems supplied by third-party vendors.  Despite 
our efforts to maintain up-to-date security controls, it is possible that our system could be improperly used 
to access or misappropriate customer systems or information, including personally identifiable or other 
confidential information.  A material security breach of this nature could harm our reputation, cause us to 
lose current and potential customers, require us to allocate more resources to information security, or 
subject us or our customers to liability, resulting in increased costs, loss of revenue, or both.  The Traditional 
Business also operates certain websites that process and, in certain cases, store customer information.  Our 
insurance may not cover all of the costs that we may incur as a result of a material security breach.     
  

Risks Related to Our Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
  

The Company has identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting related 
primarily to segregation of duties and access controls that originated in prior periods. The Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide management and the Board of Directors with 
reasonable assurance regarding the preparation and fair presentation of the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
(“GAAP”). Although management has implemented significant improvements and enhanced controls during 
fiscal year 2025, including increased finance personnel, enhanced review procedures, and continued 
enterprise resource planning modernization efforts, the Company has not yet been able to fully remediate 
this material weakness as of September 30, 2025. Certain controls were newly implemented or significantly 
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enhanced during fiscal year 2025 and, as a result, have not operated for a sufficient period of time to allow 
management to conclude that the material weakness has been fully remediated. 
  

The existence of a material weakness means that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Company’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. If 
the Company is unable to remediate this material weakness or any future deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting in a timely manner, the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report 
financial information accurately and within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms could be 
adversely affected. This could negatively impact investor confidence in the Company’s reported financial 
information, the market price and trading liquidity of the Company’s common stock, and could subject the 
Company to increased scrutiny by regulators, litigation, or other adverse consequences, which could 
materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
  

At the request of the Board of Directors, the Company engaged an independent third-party advisory firm, 
to assist management in evaluating and enhancing the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Management believes that substantial progress has been made in addressing the underlying causes of the 
material weakness and intends to continue remediation efforts and the assessment of operating 
effectiveness during fiscal year 2026. However, there can be no assurance that these efforts will be sufficient 
to fully remediate the material weakness or that additional deficiencies will not be identified in the future. 
  
Unresolved Staff Comments 
  

None. 
  
Cybersecurity 
  

The Company is committed to safeguarding its information systems and data against evolving 
cybersecurity threats. With operations spanning traditional publishing and the technology-driven Journal 
Technologies segment, the Company prioritizes robust cybersecurity measures to protect its operations, 
customers, and stakeholders. The Company employs a comprehensive cybersecurity risk management 
framework to identify, assess, and address risks that could impact business operations, sensitive client 
data, and the Company’s portfolio of marketable securities. This framework incorporates: 
  
1. Technology Solutions: Prioritizing the security of Journal Technologies' court and justice software 

systems, which manage critical data and workflows. 
2. Traditional Business: Protecting the systems and data supporting the Company’s publishing and 

printing operations. 
3. Financial Portfolio: Securing systems and processes related to the management of the Company’s 

substantial marketable securities portfolio. 
  
Governance and Oversight 
  

The Company’s Board of Directors as a whole supervises the Company’s cybersecurity strategy and 
regularly reviews cybersecurity risks, incident reports, and risk mitigation initiatives. 
  

Journal Technologies has a Chief Information Security Office (CISO) made up of internal 
cybersecurity practitioners who evaluate, identify, and mitigate significant risks posed by cybersecurity 
threats, with a focus on safeguarding the Company’s technology, data, and intellectual property. 
  

In August 2024, Journal Technologies hired a Director of Security Operations to lead the CISO team. 
With extensive IT leadership experience and a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) 
credential, the Director oversees security strategies, incident response plans, and risk assessments. 
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Reporting directly to senior management, the Director works closely with internal teams and external experts 
to align Journal Technologies’ practices with industry standards. 
  

The Company has also established a dedicated Cybersecurity Working Group, with members from 
both the Traditional Business and Journal Technologies, to collaborate on threat intelligence, incident 
response strategies, policy alignment, and security technology advancements. This partnership ensures both 
entities remain proactive in addressing evolving threats and benefit from shared expertise to implement 
coordinated security measures. The Company’s senior management works closely with the CISO and the 
Cybersecurity Working Group to identify matters requiring the attention of the Board of Directors. 
  
Cybersecurity Practices and Safeguards 
  

The Company uses a multi-layered approach to cybersecurity, including: 
  

  ● Threat Detection and Response: The Company employs enterprise security systems as the 
backbone of a defense in depth (DiD) strategy, such as patch management, intrusion detection, and 
network segmentation. A managed detection and response (MDR) solution from a world-class 
security company unifies our antivirus/malware (NGAV), endpoint detection and response (EDR), 
cyber threat intelligence, managed threat hunting capabilities, and security hygiene. 

  
  ● Employee Training and Awareness: The Company provides regular cybersecurity training for 

employees to enhance awareness of common threats, such as phishing and ransomware. All Journal 
Technologies employees undergo annual CJIS training and certification. 

  
  ● Risk Register: The Company maintains a central Risk Register as part of its cybersecurity risk 

management framework. This Risk Register identifies risks and their potential impacts, mitigation 
strategies, and ongoing monitoring efforts. 

  
  ● Third-Party Risk Management: The Company evaluates third-party vendors prior to onboarding to 

ensure they have industry standard best practices in place and, when applicable, verified by an 
external audit firm. The Company monitors third-party providers for breaches or other cybersecurity 
events and annually review each vendor’s SOC 2 audit reports. 

  
  ● Incident Response Planning: The Company maintains a formalized incident response (IR) plan to 

address and remediate cybersecurity incidents. The plan defines roles and responsibilities and 
includes runbooks for likely scenarios. The Company performs testing of the IR plan at least annually 
with the results reported to senior management. 

  
  ● Certifications: Several of the Company’s security personnel on the CISO team have and maintain 

CISSP, GCIH (GIAC Certified Incident Handler) and OSCP (Offensive Security Certified Professional) 
certifications. 

  
  ● Business Continuity: The Traditional Business and Journal Technologies have each implemented a 

Business Continuity Plan and Disaster Recovery (BCP/DR) with procedures aimed at minimizing 
downtime and facilitating recovery of both internal and customer assets in the event of a service 
disruption. The plan includes clearly defined roles, step-by-step recovery processes, and prioritized 
action plans to address various scenarios, such as natural disasters, cyber incidents, and hardware 
failures. We regularly test and update our BCP/DRs. 

  
  ● Other Measures: The Company uses other measures to protect the Company and its employees 

from cyberattacks including: 
  ○ Enforcing multi-factor authentication (MFA) for all systems 
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  ○ Deploying anti-phishing solutions to detect and block suspicious emails 
  ○ Using single sign-on (SSO) solutions integrated with secure identity providers 
  ○ Simulating phishing attacks to measure awareness and improve training programs 
  ○ Implementing Security Information and Event Management (SIEM) systems for continuous 

monitoring and logging. 
  
Incident Reporting and Disclosure 
  

The Company adheres to strict protocols for evaluating and reporting cybersecurity incidents. Any 
incidents determined to have a material impact—assessed based on financial, operational, or reputational 
factors—are raised with the Board of Directors and, if necessary, disclosed in accordance with regulatory 
requirements. 
  
Properties 
  

The main Los Angeles property is comprised of a two-story, 34,000 square foot building constructed in 
1990, which is occupied by the Company. Approximately 75% of the building is devoted to office space and 
the remainder to printing and production equipment and facilities. In 2003, the Company finished building an 
adjacent 37,000 square foot building and parking facilities on properties it acquired in 1996 and 1998. This 
building provides additional office, production and storage space. Since so many Journal Technologies 
employees are working remotely from home post-COVID or at clients’ sites, the Company prefers to 
consolidate the two offices into one and will continue to seek to either sell or lease out the adjacent building. 
  

In November 2015, the Company purchased a 30,700 square foot office building constructed in 1998 on 
approximately 3.6 acres in Logan, Utah that had been previously leased for Journal Technologies. This office 
is also currently underutilized and, therefore, a lease to a third party or other approach may be considered at 
some point in the future. 
  
Legal Proceedings 
  

From time to time, the Company is subject to litigation arising in the normal course of its business. While 
it is not possible to predict the results of such litigation, management does not believe the ultimate outcome 
of these types of matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations or cash flows. 

 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Results of Operations 
  

The Company continues to operate as two different businesses: (1) The Traditional Business, being the 
business of newspaper publishing and related services that the Company had before 1999 when it 
purchased a software development company, and (2) Journal Technologies, Inc. (“Journal Technologies”), a 
wholly-owned subsidiary which supplies case management software systems and related products to 
courts, prosecutor and public defender offices, probation departments and other justice agencies, including 
administrative law organizations, city and county governments and bar associations. These organizations 
use the Journal Technologies family of products to help manage cases and information electronically, to 
interface with other critical justice partners and to extend electronic services to the public, including e-filing 
and a website to pay traffic citations and fees online. These products are licensed or subscribed to in 
approximately 37 states and internationally. 
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Reportable Segments  
  

The Company’s Traditional Business is one reportable segment and the other is Journal Technologies 
which includes Journal Technologies, Inc. and Journal Technologies (Canada) Inc. All inter-segment 
transactions were eliminated. Additional details about each of the reportable segments and the Company’s 
corporate income and expenses are set forth below: 
 
Overall Financial Results (in thousands) for the twelve months ended September 30  

                              
    Reportable Segments                                   

    
Traditional 
Business     

Journal 
Technologies     Corporate     Total   

    2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024   
Revenues                                                                 

Advertising   $ 10,081     $ 9,325     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 10,081     $ 9,325   
Circulation     4,269       4,462       —       —       —       —       4,269       4,462   
Advertising service fees 
and other     3,412       3,039       —       —       —       —       3,412       3,039   
Licensing and 
maintenance fees     —       —       31,720       28,265       —       —       31,720       28,265   
Consulting fees     —       —       22,735       15,086       —       —       22,735       15,086   
Other public service fees     —       —       15,483       9,754       —       —       15,483       9,754   

Total operating revenues     17,762       16,826       69,938       53,105       —       —       87,700       69,931   
Operating expenses                                                                 

Personnel     10,467       9,492       44,032       36,998       2,967       395       57,466       46,885   
Other segment items*     7,460       5,360       13,246       13,616       —       —       20,706       18,976   

Total operating expenses     17,927       14,852       57,278       50,614       2,967       395       78,172       65,861   
Income from operations     (165 )     1,974       12,660       2,491       (2,967 )     —       9,528       4,070   

Dividends and interest 
income     —       —       —       —       7,459       7,102       7,459       7,102   
Interest expense     —       —       —       —       (1,381 )     (3,087 )     (1,381 )     (3,087 ) 
Net realized and 

unrealized gains on 
marketable securities     —       —       —       —       134,304       96,142       134,304       96,142   

Other     —       —       —       —       177       51       177       51   
Pretax income     (165 )     1,974       12,660       2,491       137,592       100,208       150,087       104,278   
Income tax benefit (expense)     180       (395 )     (3,665 )     (735 )     (34,465 )     (25,035 )     (37,950 )     (26,165 ) 
Net income   $ 15     $ 1,579     $ 8,995     $ 1,756     $ 103,127     $ 75,173     $ 112,137     $ 78,113   
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Comparison of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025 to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 
  

Consolidated Financials Comparison 
  

Consolidated revenues were $87.7 million and $69.9 million for fiscal years 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
This increase of $17.8 million (25%) was primarily from increases in (i) Journal Technologies’ consulting fees 
of $7.6 million, other public service fees of $5.7 million, and license and maintenance fees of $3.5 million, 
and (ii) the Traditional Business’ advertising revenues of $0.7 million. 
  

Approximately 80% of our revenues during fiscal years 2025 and 2024 were derived from Journal 
Technologies.  In addition, our revenues during fiscal year 2025 were primarily from the United States, with 
approximately $10.0 million (11%) from foreign countries.  Almost all of Journal Technologies’ revenues are 
from governmental agencies.   
  

Consolidated operating expenses increased by $12.3 million (19%) to $78.1 million from $65.9 million. 
Total salaries and employee benefits increased by $3.4 million (7%) to $50.6 million from $47.2 million 
primarily due to annual salary adjustments and the hiring of additional staff members to strengthen 
operational efficiencies, conduct product development and address technical debt, and bolster teams 
working on our installation projects. Outside services increased by $0.9 million (13%) to $8.1 million from 
$7.2 million mainly because of additional contractor services and increased third-party hosting fees which 
were billed to clients. Accounting and legal fees increased by $0.4 million (36%) to $1.4 million from $1.0 
million primarily resulting from increased accounting advisory and legal fees primarily associated with the 
remediation of material weaknesses in our internal controls. 
  

Our other income, net of expenses, rose by $40.4 million (40%) to $140.6 million from $100.2 million in 
the previous fiscal year. This increase was primarily driven by unrealized gains on marketable securities, 
totaling $134.3 million compared to $96.1 million, which included realized gains of $14.3 million, as well as a 
reduction in interest expense by $1.7 million (55%) to $1.4 million from $3.1 million, after our repayment of 
$5.5 million against the outstanding balance during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025.   
  

During fiscal year 2025, our consolidated pretax income was $150.1 million, as compared to $104.3 
million in the prior fiscal year.  Consolidated net income was $112.1 million ($81.41 per both basic and 
diluted shares, respectively) for fiscal year 2025, as compared with $78.1 million ($56.73 per share) in the 
prior fiscal year. 
  

As of September 30, 2025, the aggregate fair market value of the Company’s marketable securities was 
$493.0 million. These securities had approximately $353.9 million of cumulative unrealized gains before 
taxes of $91.4 million.  Most of the unrealized gains were in the common stocks of three U.S. financial 
institutions and one foreign manufacturer. 
  

Taxes  
          

During fiscal year 2025, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $38.0 million on pretax 
income of $150.1 million. The income tax provision consisted of tax expense of $34.3 million on unrealized 
gains on marketable securities, and $4.2 million on operating income, partially offset by a tax benefit of $0.5 
million for the dividends received deduction and other permanent differences.  Consequently, the overall 
effective tax rate for fiscal year 2025 was 25.3%, after including the taxes on the unrealized gains on 
marketable securities. 
  

During fiscal year 2024, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $26.2 million on pretax 
income of $104.3 million.   The income tax provision consisted of tax expense of $24.5 million on the realized 
and unrealized gains on marketable securities, and $2.2 million on operating income, partially offset by a tax 
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benefit of $0.5 million for the dividends received deduction and other permanent differences.  Consequently, 
the overall effective tax rate for fiscal year 2024 was 25.1%, after including the taxes on the realized and 
unrealized gains on marketable securities. 
  

The Company files consolidated federal income tax returns, with its domestic subsidiary, in the United 
States and with various state jurisdictions and is no longer subject to examinations for fiscal years before 
fiscal year 2020 with regard to federal income taxes and fiscal year 2019 for state income taxes.  The 
Canadian subsidiary files a federal and provincial tax return in Canada. 
 Journal Technologies  
  

During fiscal year 2025, Journal Technologies’ business segment pretax income increased by $10.2 
million (408%) to $12.7 million from $2.5 million in the prior fiscal year primarily resulting from increased 
revenue of $16.8 million, which were partially offset by increased operating expenses of $6.7 million. 
  

Revenues increased by $16.8 million (32%) to $69.9 million from $53.1 million in the prior fiscal year. 
Licensing and maintenance fees increased by $3.5 million (12%) to $31.7 million from $28.3 million. 
Consulting fees increased by $7.6 million (51%) to $22.7 million from $15.1 million mainly due to timing of 
deferred revenue recognition and more project go-lives.  Other public service fees increased by $5.7 million 
(59%) to $15.5 million from $9.8 million primarily because of increased e-filing fee revenues.  
  

Deferred consulting fees primarily represent advances from customers of Journal Technologies for 
installation services and are recognized upon final project go-lives. Deferred revenues on license and 
maintenance contracts represent prepayments of annual license and maintenance fees and are recognized 
ratably over the maintenance periods. 
  

Operating expenses increased by $6.7 million (13%) to $57.3 million from $50.6 million primarily due to: 
(i) increased personnel costs because of annual salary adjustments, (ii) additional contractor services and 
the hiring of additional staff members to strengthen operational efficiencies, conduct product development 
and address technical debt, and bolster teams working on the Company’s installation projects, and (iii) 
increased third-party hosting fees which were billed to clients. 
  
Traditional Business  
  

The Traditional Business’ pretax income decreased by $2.1 million (108%) to a pretax loss of $0.2 million 
from pretax income of $2.0 million in the prior fiscal year. This decrease was primarily resulting from an 
increase in long-term supplemental compensation accrual, increased personnel costs, additional merchant 
discount fees, and promotional expenses. 
  

During fiscal year 2025, the Traditional Business had total revenues of $17.8 million, up from $16.8 
million in the prior fiscal year. Advertising revenues increased by $0.8 million (8%) to $10.1 million from $9.3 
million, primarily resulting from increased commercial advertising revenues of $0.5 million, legal notice 
advertising revenues of $0.2 million, and trustee sale notice advertising revenues of $0.1 million. 
  

Trustee sale notices are very much dependent on the number of California and Arizona foreclosures for 
which public notice advertising is required by law. The number of foreclosure notices published by the 
Company during fiscal year 2025 remained consistent as compared to the prior fiscal year. The Company’s 
smaller newspapers, those other than the Los Angeles and San Francisco Daily Journals (“The Daily 
Journals”), accounted for approximately 84% of the total public notice advertising revenues during fiscal year 
2025. 
  

The Daily Journals accounted for approximately 94% of the Traditional Business’ total circulation 
revenues, which decreased by $0.2 million (4%) to $4.3 million from $4.5 million. The court rule and judicial 
profile services generated approximately 4% of the total circulation revenues, with the other newspapers and 
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services accounting for the balance. Advertising service fees and other are Traditional Business segment 
revenues, which include primarily (i) agency commissions received from outside newspapers in which the 
advertising is placed, and (ii) fees generated when filing notices with government agencies. 
  

The Traditional Business segment operating expenses increased by $3.0 million (21%) to $17.9 million 
from $14.9 million, primarily resulting from increased personnel costs, merchant discount fees, additional 
promotional expenses, and accounting advisory fees primarily associated with the remediation of material 
weaknesses in our internal controls. 
 
 Liquidity and Capital Resources 
  

During fiscal year 2025, the Company's cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and marketable 
securities increased by $142.0 million, reflecting net pretax unrealized gains on marketable securities of 
$134.3 million. The investments in marketable securities, which had an adjusted cost basis of approximately 
$139.1 million and a market value of approximately $493.0 million as of September 30, 2025, generated 
approximately $7.4 million in dividends and interest income during fiscal year 2025. These securities had 
approximately $353.9 million of cumulative unrealized gains before estimated taxes of $91.4 million which 
will become due only when we sell securities in which there is unrealized appreciation. 
  

No marketable securities were sold during fiscal year 2025. The margin loan principal balance was paid 
down by $5.5 million using excess cash from operations. In fiscal year 2024, marketable securities totaling 
approximately $40.6 million were sold to pay down the margin loan balance by $47.5 million. The loan 
balance was $22 million and $27.5 million as of September 30, 2025, and 2024, respectively. 

  
As of September 30, 2025, we had working capital of $500.4 million, including the liabilities for deferred 

subscriptions, deferred consulting fees and deferred maintenance agreements and others of $18.7 million. 
  

We believe that we will be able to fund our operations for the foreseeable future through our cash flows 
from operations and our current working capital, and we expect that any such cash flows will be invested in 
our businesses. We may or may not have the ability to borrow additional amounts against our marketable 
securities and, among other possibilities, we may be required to consider selling securities to generate cash 
if needed to fund ongoing operations. The amount available for borrowing is based on the market value of our 
investment portfolio and fluctuates depending on the value of the underlying securities. In addition, we could 
be subject to margin calls should the value of the investments decrease significantly. 
  
Cash Flows 
  
The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for each of the 
periods presented below (in thousands): 
  

    
September 30, 

2025     
September 30, 

2024     Change   
Net cash provided by (used in):                         
Operating activities   $ 13,333     $ (89 )   $ 13,422   
Investing activities     (8 )     40,534       (40,542 ) 
Financing activities     (5,664 )     (47,658 )     41,994   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 7,661     $ (7,213 )   $ 14,874   
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Operating Activities 
  

In fiscal year 2025, net cash provided by operating activities consisted of net income of $112.1 million, 
less non-cash items of $99.2 million and cash used for working capital of $0.4 million. Adjustments for non-
cash items consist primarily of $134.3 million in unrealized gains on our marketable securities, $34.7 million 
change in our deferred tax provision, $0.3 million of depreciation and amortization expense, and $0.1 million 
of stock-based compensation expense. The decrease in cash from changes in working capital is primarily 
due to a $1.8 million increase in accounts receivable, a $0.2 million increase in prepaid expenses and other 
assets, a $0.9 million increase in income tax payable, and a $5.4 million decrease in deferred revenue, 
including deferred subscription, consulting fees, and maintenance agreements, partially offset by a $1.0 
million increase in accounts payable and a $5.9 million increase in accrued liabilities, including non-
qualified deferred compensation. 

 
In fiscal year 2024, net cash used in operating activities totaled $0.1 million, consisting of net income of 

$78.1 million, less non-cash items of $73.6 million and cash used for working capital of $4.6 million. 
Adjustments for non-cash items consist primarily of $96.1 million in net realized and unrealized gains on our 
marketable securities, a $22.0 million change in our deferred tax provision, $0.3 million of depreciation and 
amortization expense, and a $0.2 million of stock-based compensation expense. The decrease in cash from 
changes in working capital is primarily due to a $0.5 million increase in accounts receivable, a $0.2 million 
increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, a $0.6 million decrease in accounts payable, a $0.2 million 
decrease in accrued liabilities, a $1.1 million decrease in income tax payable, and a $2.0 million decrease in 
deferred revenue, including deferred subscription, consulting fees, and maintenance agreements. 
  

Investing Activities 
  

In fiscal year 2025, net cash used for investing activities was negligible. 
  

In fiscal year 2024, net cash provided by investing activities was $40.5 million, primarily related to $40.6 
million in proceeds from sales of marketable securities, partially offset by $0.1 million in purchases of 
property and equipment purchases and capital asset sales. 
  

Financing Activities 
  

During fiscal year 2025, net cash used in financing activities totaled $5.7 million, which primarily 
consisted of a $5.5 million repayment on the outstanding principal of the investment margin loan and a $0.2 
million principal payment on the real estate loan. 
  

During fiscal year 2024, net cash used in financing activities totaled $47.7 million, which primarily 
consisted of a $47.5 million repayment on the outstanding principal of the investment margin loan and a $0.2 
million principal payment on the real estate loan. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
  

The Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. Preparing financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies. 
Management believes that revenue recognition, accounting for software costs, fair value and income taxes 
are critical accounting policies. Critical accounting estimates include fair value measurements and the long-
term supplemental compensation accrual. 
  

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the provisions of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from 
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Contracts with Customers (ASC Topic 606). 
  

For the Traditional Business, proceeds from the sale of subscriptions for newspapers, court rule books 
and other publications and other services are recorded as deferred revenue and are included in earned 
revenue only when the services are provided, generally over the subscription term. Advertising revenues are 
recognized when advertisements are published. 
  

Journal Technologies’ contracts may include several products and services, which are generally distinct 
and include separate transaction pricing and performance obligations. Most are one-transaction contracts. 
These current subscription-type contract revenues include (i) implementation consulting fees to configure 
the system to go-live, (ii) subscription software license, maintenance (including updates and upgrades) and 
support fees, and (iii) third-party hosting fees when used. Revenues for consulting are generally recognized at 
point of delivery upon completion of services. These contracts include assurance warranty provisions for 
limited periods and do not include financing terms. For some contracts, the Company acts as a principal 
with respect to certain services, such as data conversion, interfaces and hosting that are provided by third-
parties, and recognizes such revenues on a gross basis. For legacy contracts with perpetual license 
arrangements, licenses and consulting services are recognized at point of delivery (go-live), and 
maintenance revenues are recognized ratably after the go-live. Other public service fees are earned and 
recognized as revenues when the Company processes credit card payments on behalf of the courts via its 
websites through which the public can e-file cases and pay traffic citations and other fees. 
  

ASC 985-20, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, 
provides that costs related to the research and development of a new software product are to be expensed 
as incurred until the technological feasibility of the product is established, subject to expected 
recoverability. In general, “technological feasibility” is achieved when the developer has established the 
necessary skills, hardware and technology to produce a product and a detailed program design has been (i) 
completed, (ii) traced to the product specifications and (iii) reviewed for high-risk development issues. If 
there is no program design completed, technological feasibility is reached upon the completion of a working 
model.  Capitalization of software development costs ceases and amortization of capitalized software 
development costs (if any) commences when the products are available for general release. The Company 
believes its process for developing software is essentially completed concurrent with the establishment of 
technological feasibility, and accordingly, no software development costs have been capitalized to date. 
  

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, requires the Company to (i) disclose the amounts of 
transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and the reasons for the transfers and (ii) 
present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the reconciliation of 
Level 3 measurements. This guidance also provides clarification of existing disclosures requiring the 
Company to determine each class of its investments based on risk and to disclose the valuation techniques 
and inputs used to measure fair value for both Level 2 and Level 3 measurements. The Company made no 
transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 measurements in fiscal years 2025 and 2024. During that time, all 
of the Company’s investments have been quoted on public markets and, therefore, all fair value calculations 
have been based on Level 1 measurements. 

  
ASC 710, Compensation—General, requires the Company to recognize compensation cost for its 

Management Incentive Plan over the requisite service period based on the estimated obligation attributable 
to services rendered to date. The estimated future commitment under the Incentive Plan is calculated using 
management’s best estimates, which include assumptions related to future pretax earnings before certain 
items, based on an average of the prior fiscal year and the current year. The resulting estimated obligation is 
discounted to present value at a rate of 6%, reflecting the time value of money, as each granted Management 
Incentive Plan award may remain outstanding over a remaining life of up to 10 years. Changes in estimates of 
the expected payout or timing of payments are recognized prospectively as adjustments to compensation 
expense in the period of change. 
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ASC 740, Income Taxes, establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for the effect of 
income taxes. The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or 
refundable for the current year and the deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of 
events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. This accounting guidance also 
prescribes recognition thresholds and measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Judgment is required in 
assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial 
statements or tax returns. Fluctuations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could 
materially impact the Company’s financial position or its results of operations and its deferred tax liabilities 
related to the unrealized net gains on investments. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further discussion. 
  

ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, defines an operating segment as a component of a public entity that 
has discrete financial information that is evaluated regularly by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to 
decide how to allocate resources and to assess performance. In accordance with ASC 280-10, the Company 
has two reportable business segments which are: (i) the Traditional Business and (ii) Journal Technologies 
and Journal Technologies (Canada). 
  

The above discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and the notes thereto included in this report.  
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DAILY JOURNAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(In thousands except share amounts) 

 

    
September 30, 

2025     
September 30, 

2024   
ASSETS                 
Current assets:                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 20,569     $ 12,986   
Restricted cash     2,269       2,191   
Non-qualified deferred compensation plan – trust account asset value     1,385       748   
Marketable securities at fair value     492,995       358,691   
Accounts receivable, net     21,011       19,219   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     959       660   

Total current assets     539,188       394,495   
Property and equipment, net     8,930       9,268   

Total assets   $ 548,118     $ 403,763   
                  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                 
Current liabilities:                 

Accounts payable   $ 7,071     $ 6,049   
Accrued liabilities     12,518       8,517   
Note payable collateralized by real estate     169       164   
Income taxes     879       —   
Deferred subscriptions     2,474       2,558   
Deferred consulting fees     1,747       2,031   
Deferred maintenance agreements and others     13,948       19,124   

Total current liabilities     38,806       38,443   
Investment margin account borrowings     22,000       27,500   
Long-term note payable collateralized by real estate     787       956   
Long-term deferred maintenance agreements     994       883   
Long-term accrued liabilities     5,547       3,772   
Accrued non-qualified deferred compensation     1,590       784   
Deferred income taxes     87,333       52,641   

Total liabilities     157,057       124,979   
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)                 
Stockholders’ Equity                 

Common stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 
1,805,053 shares issued and outstanding, and 427,627 treasury 
shares, as of September 30, 2025, and 2024, respectively     14       14   

Additional paid-in capital     2,097       1,957   
Retained earnings     388,950       276,813   
Total stockholders’ equity     391,061       278,784   

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 548,118     $ 403,763   
 
  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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DAILY JOURNAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 

    
September 30, 

2025     
September 30, 

2024   
Revenues                 

Advertising   $ 10,081     $ 9,325   
Circulation     4,269       4,462   
Advertising service fees and other     3,412       3,039   
Licensing and maintenance fees     31,720       28,265   
Consulting fees     22,735       15,086   
Other public service fees     15,483       9,754   

Total revenues     87,700       69,931   
Operating expenses:                 

Salaries and employee benefits     55,551       47,178   
Stock-based compensation     140       202   
Increase (decrease) to the long-term supplemental compensation accrual     1,775       (495 ) 
Agency commissions     1,277       1,146   
Outside services     8,087       7,151   
Postage and delivery expenses     774       752   
Newsprint and printing expenses     639       669   
Equipment maintenance and software     1,542       1,574   
Credit card merchant discount fees     2,308       2,237   
Accounting and legal fees     1,392       1,026   
Other general and administrative expenses     4,687       4,421   

Total operating expenses     78,172       65,861   
Income from operations     9,528       4,070   
Other income (expenses)                 

Dividends and interest income     7,459       7,102   
Net realized and unrealized gains on marketable securities     134,304       96,142   
Net unrealized (losses) gains on non-qualified compensation plan     64       47   
Interest expense     (1,381 )     (3,087 ) 
Other income     113       4   

Income before taxes     150,087       104,278   
Income tax provision     (37,950 )     (26,165 ) 
Net income and comprehensive income   $ 112,137     $ 78,113   
                  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic     1,377,426       1,377,026   
Basic net income per share   $ 81.41     $ 56.73   
                  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted     1,377,503       1,377,026   
Diluted net income per share   $ 81.41     $ 56.73   

 
  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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DAILY JOURNAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(in thousands, except share amounts) 
 

    Common Stock     Treasury Stock     Additional     Retained     
Total 

Stockholders’   

    Share     Amount     Share     Amount     
Paid-in 
Capital     Earnings     Equity   

Balance as of September 30, 
2023     1,805,053     $ 18     $ (428,027 )   $ (4 )   $ 1,755     $ 198,700     $ 200,469   

Issuance of treasury stock     —       —       400       —       202       —       202   
Net income     —       —       —       —       —       78,113       78,113   

Balance as of September 30, 
2024     1,805,053       18       (427,627 )     (4 )     1,957       276,813       278,784   

Stock-based compensation     —       —       —       —       140       —       140   
Net income     —       —       —       —       —       112,137       112,137   

Balance as of September 30, 
2025     1,805,053     $ 18     $ (427,627 )   $ (4 )   $ 2,097     $ 388,950     $ 391,061   

 
  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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DAILY JOURNAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 
 

      September 30, 
2025       September 30, 

2024   

Cash flows from operating activities                 
Net income   $ 112,137     $ 78,113   

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used 
in) operating activities                 

Stock-based compensation     140       202   
Depreciation and amortization     257       267   
Gains on sales of capital assets     —       (4 ) 
Net realized and unrealized gains on marketable securities     (134,304 )     (96,142 ) 
Deferred income taxes     34,692       22,042   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities;                 

Accounts receivable, net     (1,792 )     (532 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets     (210 )     (239 ) 
Accounts payable     1,022       (594 ) 
Accrued liabilities, including non-qualified deferred compensation     5,945       (190 ) 
Income tax payable     879       (1,069 ) 
Deferred subscriptions     (84 )     (120 ) 
Deferred consulting fees     (284 )     (3,797 ) 
Deferred maintenance agreements and others     (5,065 )     1,974   

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     13,333       (89 ) 
                  
Cash flows from investing activities                 

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities     —       40,579   
Proceeds on sales of capital assets     —       4   
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, net     (8 )     (49 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities     (8 )     40,534   
                  
Cash flows from financing activities                 

Payments to margin loan borrowing     (5,500 )     (47,500 ) 
Payments of real estate loan principal     (164 )     (158 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities     (5,664 )     (47,658 ) 
                  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash     7,661       (7,213 ) 
                  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period                 

Cash and cash equivalents     12,986       20,844   
Restricted cash     2,191       2,294   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 22,838     $ 15,731   
                  
Interest paid during year   $ 1,381     $ 3,050   
Income taxes paid during year   2,253     $ 5,128   
 
  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 DAILY JOURNAL CORPORATION 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In thousands, except share data) 

  
  
1. The Corporation and Operations 
  

Daily Journal Corporation publishes newspapers and websites covering California and Arizona and 
produces several specialized information services. It also serves as a newspaper representative specializing 
in public notice advertising (the “Traditional Business”). The Daily Journal Corporation, along with its wholly 
owned subsidiaries, are referred to as the “Company” or “Daily Journal”. 
  

Journal Technologies, Inc. (“Journal Technologies”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Daily Journal, supplies 
case management software systems and related products to courts, prosecutor and public defender offices, 
probation departments and other justice agencies, including administrative law organizations, city and 
county governments and bar associations. These organizations use the Journal Technologies family of 
products to help manage cases and information electronically, to interface with other critical justice partners 
and to extend electronic services to the public, including e-filing and a website to pay traffic citations and 
fees online. These products are licensed or subscribed to in approximately 37 states and internationally. 
  

Essentially all of the Company’s U.S. operations are based in California and Utah. The Company also has 
a presence in Australia where Journal Technologies is working on four software installation projects and in 
British Columbia, Canada, where the Company has operated a wholly-owned subsidiary, Journal 
Technologies (Canada), Inc. since August 2022. 
  
Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 
  
Basis of Presentation 
  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Daily Journal and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
  
Concentrations of Credit Risk  
  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist of 
cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities and accounts receivable. The Company’s 
cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are held at financial institutions where account balances may at 
times exceed federally insured limits. The Company limits its exposure by primarily placing its cash in 
interest-bearing deposit accounts with high credit quality financial institutions and marketable securities. 
Management believes the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial strength of 
the depository institutions in which the cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash held. The Company has 
no financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk of loss. 
  
Use of Estimates 
  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Estimates and assumptions made by management include, but are not limited to, the estimated fair values 
of marketable securities, management incentive plans, equity awards, and the accounting for income taxes. 
Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 
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Cash Equivalents 
  

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents. 

 
Restricted Cash 
  

The Company considers cash to be restricted when withdrawal or general use is legally restricted. 
Restricted cash of $2.3 million and $2.2 million as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, represents 
cash held to secure two letters of credit issued by a bank for a software installation contract in Australia. 
  
Accounts receivable, net 
  

The Company extends unsecured credit to most of its advertising customers. The Company recognizes 
that extending credit and setting appropriate reserves for receivables is largely a subjective decision based 
on knowledge of the customer and the industry. Credit limits, setting and maintaining credit standards, and 
managing the overall quality of the credit portfolio is largely centralized. The level of credit is influenced by 
the customer’s credit and payment history which the Company monitors when establishing a reserve. 

  
The change in accounts receivable, net, is as follows (in thousands): 
  

Description   
Accounts 

receivable, net   
Balance as of September 30, 2023   $ 18,687   

Increase (decrease), net     532   
Balance as of September 30, 2024     19,219   

Increase (decrease), net     1,792   
Balance as of September 30, 2025   $ 21,011   

  
The Company maintains the reserve account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its 

customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of its customers were to deteriorate or its 
judgments about their abilities to pay are incorrect, additional allowances might be required and its results of 
operations could be materially affected. 
  

The change in allowance for expected credit losses is as follows: 
 

Description 

  

Balance at  
Beginning of 

Year     

Additions  
charged to 

Costs  
and Expenses     

Accounts 
charged  
off less  

Recoveries     

Balance at End  
of Year 

  
Fiscal 2025                                 

Allowance for credit losses   $ 250     $ 14     $ (14 )   $ 250   
Fiscal 2024                                 

Allowance for credit losses   $ 250     $ 5     $ (5 )   $ 250   
  
Property, plant and equipment, net 
  

Property, plant and equipment are carried on the cost basis, and depreciated using the straight-line 
method for financial statements and accelerated method for tax purposes. The useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment are as follows: 
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Assets Useful life (years)   
Land Indefinite   
Buildings and improvements 5 - 39   
Furniture, office equipment and computer software  3 - 5   
Machinery and equipment  3 - 10   
Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated life or lease term   

  
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $0.3 million and $0.3 million for fiscal years 2025 and 

2024, respectively. 
 
Significant expenditures which extend the useful lives of existing assets are capitalized. Maintenance 

and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses on dispositions of assets are reflected in current 
earnings. 
  
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
  

The Company reviews its depreciable long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss may be recognized when the undiscounted cash flows expected to be 
generated by a long-lived asset (or asset group) are less than its carrying value. Any required impairment loss 
would be measured as the amount by which the asset’s (or asset group’s) carrying value exceeds its fair 
value and would be recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and reflected in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. No impairment charges were recorded on any long-lived 
assets during the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024. 
  
Journal Technologies’ Software Development Costs 
  

Development costs related to software products for sale or licensing are expensed as incurred until the 
technological feasibility of the product has been established. Thereafter, until the product is released for 
sale, software development costs are capitalized and reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net 
realizable value of the related product. The establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing 
assessment of recoverability of costs require considerable judgment by the Company with respect to certain 
internal and external factors, including, but not limited to, anticipated future product revenue, estimated 
economic life and changes in hardware and software technology. 
 

If there is no program design completed, technological feasibility is reached upon the completion of a 
working model. Capitalization of software development costs ceases and amortization of capitalized 
software development costs (if any) commences when the products are available for general release. Under 
the Company’s software development life cycle policy and agile development methodology, technological 
feasibility is generally established when a working model has been completed and approved through internal 
quality assurance, which typically occurs late in the development cycle and near the time the software is 
ready for customer testing and release. As a result, the period between technological feasibility and general 
release is generally insignificant, and no software development costs have been capitalized to date. 
Research and development expenses related to software development were $2.5 million and $1.4 million for 
the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, and are included under Salaries and employee benefits on 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.  
  
Stock-based compensation 
  

The Company expenses the estimated fair value of employee restricted stock units. The compensation 
cost is based on the grant-date fair value of those awards and is recognized over the service period that the 
awards are expected to vest. The tax effects related to share-based payments are made through net 
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earnings. See Note 7 for further discussion and related disclosures regarding stock-based compensation. 
  
Earnings per share 
  

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the Company’s weighted-average outstanding common 
shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the Company’s weighted-average outstanding 
common shares including the dilutive effect of stock awards as determined under the treasury stock method. 
  
Income taxes 
  

The Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach which requires the 
recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future consequences of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and the tax basis of the assets 
and liabilities. The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes under ASC 740-10 which prescribes a 
recognition threshold and measurement methodology to recognize and measure an income tax position 
taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. The evaluation of a tax position is based on a two-step 
approach. The first step requires an entity to evaluate whether the tax position would “more likely than not” 
be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority. The second step requires the tax position 
be measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon 
ultimate settlement. In addition, previously recognized benefits from tax positions that no longer meet the 
new criteria would be derecognized. 
  
Leases 
  

The Company elected a practical expedient related to lease and non-lease components, as an 
accounting policy election for all asset classes, which allows a lessee to not separate non-lease from lease 
components and instead account for consideration paid in a contract as a single lease component. As such, 
base rent along with any additional fixed costs paid to the landlord are capitalized as part of the right of use 
(“ROU”) asset. 

  
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease ROU assets and 

operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments 
over the lease term at commencement date. As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit 
rate, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at 
commencement date of the lease in determining the present value of future payments. 
  

The Company has made an accounting policy election not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations 
for its short-term leases, which are defined as leases with an initial term of 12 months or less. However, the 
Company will recognize these lease payments in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease payments in the period in which the obligation is 
incurred. Lease payments for month-to-month leases are recognized as incurred. See Note 9 for further 
discussion and related disclosures regarding Leases. 
  
Revenue Recognition 
  

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC Topic 606). See note 3 for further discussion 
and related disclosures regarding revenue recognition. 
  

For the Traditional Business, proceeds from the sale of subscriptions for newspapers, court rule books 
and other publications and other services are recorded as deferred revenue and are included in earned 
revenue only when the services are provided, generally over the subscription term. Advertising service fees 
and other revenues, which represent primarily agency commissions received from outside newspapers in 
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which the advertising is placed, are recognized when advertisements are published and are recorded on a 
net basis. 
 

Journal Technologies contracts may include several products and services, which are generally distinct 
and include separate transaction pricing and performance obligations. These revenue contracts include (i) 
implementation consulting fees to configure the system to go-live, (ii) subscription software license, 
maintenance (including updates and upgrades) and support fees, and (iii) third-party hosting fees when used. 
For contracts containing multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price on 
the basis of the relative standalone selling price of each distinct good or service, and utilizes the residual 
approach to estimate the standalone selling price of implementation consulting fees, whereby the 
standalone selling price is estimated by reference to the total transaction price less the sum of the 
observable standalone selling prices of its subscription software licenses, maintenance and support fees, 
and third-party hosting fees. These contracts include assurance-type warranty provisions for limited periods 
and do not include financing terms. For most contracts, the Company acts as a principal with respect to 
certain services, such as data conversion and interfaces. Hosting services are provided with support by third 
parties, and the company recognizes such revenues and related costs on a gross basis. The Company 
considers several factors to determine if it controls the good or service before it is transferred to the client 
and therefore is the principal. These factors include (1) if the Company has primary responsibility for fulfilling 
the promise and (2) if the Company has discretion in establishing price for the specified good or service. For 
legacy contracts with perpetual license arrangements, licenses and consulting services are recognized at 
point of delivery, and maintenance revenues are recognized ratably after the go-live. 
  

The Company issues invoices that have payment terms which require payment within 30 days. Amounts 
that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue, depending 
on whether the required performance services have been completed. Proceeds from subscription-type 
revenues, including circulation revenue, license, maintenance and support services, and hosting services, 
are deferred at the time of sale and are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the terms of the subscriptions or 
service period, and unearned proceeds are recognized within deferred subscriptions and deferred 
maintenance agreements and others in the consolidated balance sheets. Proceeds from consulting fees are 
recognized at point of delivery upon service completion, and unearned consulting fee proceeds are recorded 
under deferred consulting fees on the consolidated balance sheets. Other public service fees are earned and 
recognized as revenues when the Company processes credit card payments on behalf of the courts via its 
websites through which the public can e-file cases and pay traffic citations and other fees. 
  

ASC 606 also requires the capitalization of certain costs of obtaining contracts, specifically sales 
commissions which are to be amortized over the expected term of the contracts. For its software contracts, 
the Company incurs an immaterial amount of sales commission costs which have no significant impact on 
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company’s implementation and 
fulfillment costs do not meet all criteria required for capitalization. As a result, there are no fulfillment costs 
that are capitalized for the software contracts. 
  

Since the Company recognizes revenues when it can invoice the customer pursuant to the contract for 
the value of completed performance, as a practical expedient and because reliable estimates cannot be 
made, it has elected not to include the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations. 
These unallocated prices primarily relate to the eFile-it™ and ePay-it™ transactions for which service fees are 
collected and recognized when the Company processes credit card payments on behalf of the courts via its 
websites through which the public can e-file cases or pay traffic citations. 
  
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
  
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 
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In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-09, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which provides qualitative and quantitative 
updates to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disclosures, among others, in order to enhance the 
transparency of income tax disclosures, including consistent categories and greater disaggregation of 
information in the rate reconciliation and disaggregation by jurisdiction of income taxes paid. The 
amendments in ASU 2023-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, or the 
Company’s fiscal year 2026, and subsequent interim periods, with early adoption permitted. The 
amendments should be applied prospectively; however, retrospective application is also permitted. The 
Company is currently in the process of reviewing the guidance and evaluating its impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. 
  

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-01, Scope Application of Profits Interest and Similar Awards 
(“ASU 2024-01”). ASU 2024-01 clarifies how an entity determines whether a profits interest or similar award 
is (1) within the scope of ASC 718 or (2) not a share-based payment arrangement and therefore within the 
scope of other guidance. The guidance in ASU 2024-01 applies to all entities that issue profits interest or 
similar awards as compensation to employees or nonemployees in exchange for goods or services. The 
guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, or the 
Company’s fiscal year 2026. Early adoption is permitted and can be applied (1) retrospectively to all prior 
periods presented in the financial statements or (2) prospectively to profits interest and similar award. The 
Company is evaluating the disclosure requirements related to the new standard. 
  

In November 2024, FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income –
 expense disaggregation Disclosures (Topic 220): disaggregation of Income Statement expenses, which 
requires additional disclosure of certain amounts included in the expense captions presented on the 
statement of operations, as well as disclosures about selling expenses. ASU 2024-03 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2026, or the Company’s fiscal year 2028, and subsequent interim 
periods, with early adoption permitted.  Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have 
not yet been issued. The Company is evaluating the disclosure requirements related to the new standard. 
  

In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-06, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use 
Software (Subtopic 350-40), which modernizes the accounting guidance for internal-use software costs by 
eliminating the requirement to assess software development stages and introduces a new capitalization 
threshold. ASU 2025-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, or the Company’s 
fiscal year 2029, and subsequent interim periods, with early adoption permitted.  Early adoption is permitted 
for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued. The Company is currently in the process of 
reviewing the guidance and evaluating its impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
  
New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted 
  

During November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to 
Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, 
primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses on an annual and interim basis. 
The amendments are intended to enable investors to develop more decision-useful financial analyses. ASU 
2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company has adopted the new annual 
disclosures as required for fiscal year 2025, see Note 11 for the disclosures required by this ASU. 
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3.  Revenue Recognition  
  

The change in total deferred revenues, including the long-term portion, is as follows (in thousands): 
  

Description   
Deferred 
Revenue  
(Current) 

    
Deferred 
Revenue  

(Non-current) 
  

Balance as of September 30, 2023   $ 25,539     $ 1,000   
(Decrease) increase, net     (1,826 )     (117 ) 

Balance as of September 30, 2024     23,713       883   
(Decrease) increase, net     (5,054 )     111   

Balance as of September 30, 2025   $ 18,659     $ 994   
  

The decreases in deferred revenue during the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 were primarily 
driven by the recognition of revenue associated with performance obligations satisfied during the period, 
partially offset by amounts billed in advance for new and renewal contracts. 

  
During the years ending September 30, 2025 and 2024, $21.7 million and $18.8 million in revenue, 

respectively, were recognized from deferred revenue at the start of each year. 
 
4.  Fair value of Financial Instruments  
  

The Company’s financial instruments include marketable securities, cash equivalents are measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis. 

  
As of September 30, 2025, the Company’s holdings of marketable securities were concentrated in just 

six companies. These marketable securities consist solely of investments in publicly traded equity securities 
and do not include any debt securities. 
  

Fair value is based on the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is estimated by 
applying the following hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and 
bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to 
the fair value measurement: 
  ● Level 1 — defined as observable inputs based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments 

in active markets; 
  ● Level 2 — defined as inputs other than Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable in the 

marketplace for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and 
  ● Level 3 — defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists where valuations 

are derived from techniques in which one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 
  

The Company determines the level in the fair value hierarchy within which each fair value measurement 
falls in its entirety, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. In determining the appropriate levels, the Company performs an analysis of the assets and liabilities 
at each reporting period end. 
  

The carrying amounts of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accrued liabilities and accounts 
payable approximate fair value because of the short maturity and high liquidity of these instruments. 
Marketable securities and cash equivalents, which consist of money market funds, are measured and 
recorded at fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet using Level 1 inputs. The Company 
determined the fair value of its Level 1 financial instruments, which are traded in active markets, using 
quoted market prices for identical instruments. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or 
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transfers in or out of Level 3 during fiscal years 2025 and 2024. 
 
The following table summarizes the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets measured at 

fair value as of September 30, 2025 (in thousands): 
  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   
Assets:                                 

Money market funds (cash equivalent)   $ 3,335     $ —     $ —     $ 3,335   
Marketable securities     492,995       —       —       492,995   

Total Assets at fair value   $ 496,330     $ —     $ —     $ 496,330   
  

The following table summarizes the fair value hierarchy of financial assets measured at fair value as of 
September 30, 2024 (in thousands): 
  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   
Money market funds (cash equivalent)   $ 3,945     $ —     $ —     $ 3,945   
Marketable securities     358,691       —       —       358,691   

Total Assets at fair value   $ 362,636     $ —     $ —     $ 362,636   
  
 
Marketable securities 
  

As of September 30, 2025 and 2024, there were accumulated pretax unrealized gains of marketable 
securities of $353.9 million and $219.6 million, respectively, recorded in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.  
  

During the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 the Company recorded and included in its net 
income the net unrealized and realized gains on marketable securities of $134.3 million and $96.1 million, 
respectively. There were no purchases or sales of marketable securities during the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2025. In fiscal year 2024, the Company sold part of its marketable securities for 
approximately $40.6 million, realizing net gains of $14.3 million. 
  

Investments in marketable securities as of September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2024 are summarized 
below (in thousands). 
  
    September 30, 2025     September 30, 2024   

    

Aggregate 
fair value 

    

Amortized
/ 

Adjusted 
cost basis     

Pretax 
unrealized 

gains      

Aggregate 
fair value 

    

Amortized
/ 

Adjusted 
cost basis     

Pretax 
unrealized 

gains    
Marketable securities:                                                 

Common stocks   $ 492,995     $ 139,094     $ 353,901     $ 358,691     $ 139,094     $ 219,597   
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5.  Property and Equipment, net 
  

The components of property and equipment, net are as follows (in thousands): 
  

    
September 30, 

2025     
September 30, 

2024   
Land, buildings and improvements     16,418       16,418   
Furniture, office equipment and computer software     1,625       1,723   
Machinery and equipment     1,521       1,521   
Operating lease right-of-use assets     37       126   

Total cost     19,601       19,788   
Less accumulated depreciation     (10,671 )     (10,520 ) 

Property and equipment, net   $ 8,930     $ 9,268   
  

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment was $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the years 
ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

  
6.  Income Taxes  
  

The provision from income taxes consists of the following (in thousands): 
  

    2025     2024   
Current:                 

Federal   $ 2,337     $ 3,000   
State     878       1,053   
Foreign     45       70   

Total current expense     3,260       4,123   
Deferred:                 

Federal     26,918       17,005   
State     7,772       5,037   
Foreign     -       -   

Total deferred expense     34,690       22,042   
Total income tax provision   $ 37,950     $ 26,165   
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           The difference between the statutory federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective rate is 
summarized below: 
  

    2025     2024   
Statutory federal income tax rate     21.0 %     21.0 % 
State franchise taxes (net of federal tax benefit)     4.8       5.0   
Effect of state rate change on beginning balance of deferred tax 
liabilities     (0.3 )     (0.4 ) 
Dividends received deduction     (0.3 )     (0.5 ) 
Others     0.1       —   

Effective tax rate     25.3 %     25.1 % 
  

The Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities (in thousands) were comprised of the 
following: 
  

    2025     2024   
Deferred tax assets attributable to:                 

Accrued liabilities, including supplemental compensation and 
vacation pay accrual   $ 2,422     $ 1,903   

Impairment losses on marketable securities     (277 )     (280 ) 
Bad debt reserves not yet deductible     55       55   
Depreciation and amortization     1,283       1,730   
Deferred revenues     184       517   
Goodwill     190       265   
Net operating losses     160       166   
Credits and other     —       103   

Total deferred tax assets     4,017       4,459   
                  
Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:                 

Unrealized gains on marketable securities     (91,350 )     (57,100 ) 
Total deferred tax liabilities                 
Net deferred income taxes   $ (87,333 )   $ (52,641 ) 

  
During fiscal year 2025, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $38.0 million on pretax 

income of $150.1 million. The income tax provision consisted of tax expense of $34.3 million on unrealized 
gains on marketable securities, and $4.2 million on operating income, partially offset by a tax benefit of 
$0.5 million for the dividends received deduction and other permanent differences.  Consequently, the 
overall effective tax rate for fiscal year 2025 was 25.3%, after including the taxes on the unrealized gains on 
marketable securities. 
  

 During fiscal year 2024, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $26.2 million on pretax 
income of $104.3 million.   The income tax provision consisted of tax expense of $24.5 million on the realized 
and unrealized gains on marketable securities, and $2.2 million on operating income, partially offset by a tax 
benefit of $0.5 million for the dividends received deduction and other permanent differences.  Consequently, 
the overall effective tax rate for fiscal year 2024 was 25.1%, after including the taxes on the realized and 
unrealized gains on marketable securities. 
  

The Company files consolidated federal income tax returns, with its domestic subsidiary, in the United 
States and with various state jurisdictions and is no longer subject to examinations for fiscal years before 
fiscal year 2021 with regard to federal income taxes and fiscal year 2020 for state income taxes.  The 
Canadian subsidiary files a federal and provincial tax return in Canada. 
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During fiscal year 2021, the Company utilized all of its federal and certain state net operating losses 

(NOL). During fiscal year 2024, the Company utilized the remaining $1.3 million of California NOLs. The 
Company also has NOLs in other states, expiring as follows: 
  

Fiscal Year ended (in million)   Other State NOLs   
September 30, 2029 through         
September 30, 2036   $ 0.2   
September 30, 2037     0.1   
September 30, 2038     0.2   
September 30, 2039     0.1   
No expiration     2   

Total   $ 2.6   
  
7.  Stock-Based Compensation 
  

The Company has implemented two equity incentive plans, one for key employees and one for non-
employee directors, each providing for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, 
restricted stock units, and other equity-based awards.  As of both September 30, 2025, and 2024, there were 
2,920 shares available for future grants under the key employee’s equity incentive plan, which authorizes the 
issuance of up to 3,720 shares. Under the non-employee director plan, which was approved in February 2025 
and authorizes issuance of 2,000 shares, there were 1,805 available for grants as of September 30, 2025. 
Restricted stock units generally vest ratably over two years of continuous service from the grant date and, 
upon vesting, are issued from the Company’s treasury shares.  The Company accounts for share-based 
compensation utilizing the fair value recognition requirement pursuant to ASC 718. 
  

For restricted stock units, the Company uses the closed market price on the date of grant as the fair 
market value of the stock. The Company has not historically paid any cash dividends on its common stock 
and as a result does not reduce the grant-date fair value per share by the present value of dividends expected 
to be paid during the requisite service period for restricted stock units. Share based compensation awards 
are expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which are generally the vesting 
periods. 
  

The Company will recognize the effect of awards for which the requisite service period is not rendered 
when the award is forfeited. That is, the Company recognizes the effect of forfeitures in compensation cost 
when they occur. Previously recognized compensation cost for an award is reversed in the period the award 
is forfeited. 
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The following table summarizes stock unit activity during the periods presented: 
  

    

Number of RSUs 
outstanding 

    

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date Fair 
Value per Share   

Unvested as of September 30, 2023     —       —   
Granted     800     $ 463.64   
Vested     (400 )     463.64   
Forfeited     —       —   

Unvested as of September 30, 2024     400       463.64   
Granted     195       508.20   
Vested     (230 )     453.93   
Forfeited     —       —   

Unvested as of September 30, 2025     365     $ 494.43   
  

As of September 30, 2025 and 2024, total fair value of shares vested during the year was $0.1 million and 
$0.2 million, respectively. For fiscal year 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized a total of compensation 
cost of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. For fiscal year 2025 and 2024, the Company had total 
unrecognized compensation cost of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, related to 
unvested restricted stock units which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average amortization 
period of approximately 0.87 years. 
  
8. Accrued Liabilities 
  
Current accrued liabilities consist of (in thousands): 
  

    September 30,   
    2025     2024   
Accrued vacation   $ 3,115     $ 3,425   
Accrued supplemental compensation     6,668       2,248   
Accrued payroll     1,508       1,354   
Accrued other     1,227       1,490   
Total current accrued liabilities   $ 12,518     $ 8,517   

  
Long term accrued liabilities consist primarily of the Management Incentive Plan, which was $5.5 million and 
$3.8 million as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
  
9.  Commitments and Contingencies 
  

From time to time, the Company is subject to litigation arising in the normal course of its business. While 
it is not possible to predict the results of such litigation, management does not believe the ultimate outcome 
of these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows. 
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 The following table represents the Company’s future obligations (in thousands): 
  

    2026     2027     2028     2029     
2030 and 

after     Total   
Long-term accrued liabilities*   $ 1,707     $ 1,379     $ 1,106     $ 772     $ 583     $ 5,547   
Non-qualified deferred 
compensation 409(A) plan     1,590       —       —       —       —       1,590   
Real estate loan     169       175       181       187       244       956   
Lease     37       —       —       —       —       37   
    $ 1,796     $ 3,041     $ 1,201     $ 880     $ 685     $ 7,603   
* The long-term accrued liabilities for the Management Incentive Plan are discounted to the present value 
using a discount rate of 6%. 
  
Margin Loan 
  

During fiscal year 2013, the Company borrowed from its investment margin account the aggregate 
purchase price of $29.5 million for two acquisitions, in each case pledging its marketable securities as 
collateral. In addition, there were subsequent borrowings of $45.5 million to purchase additional marketable 
securities bringing the margin loan balance up to $75 million during fiscal year 2023. In March 2024, the 
Company sold a portion of its marketable securities for approximately $40.6 million and used these 
proceeds and excess cash from operations to pay down the margin loan balance to $27.5 million at last year-
end. During the year ended September 30, 2025, the Company was able to use excess cash from operations 
to pay down an additional $5.5 million of this margin loan. As of September 30, 2025, the margin loan 
balance was $22.0 million. 
  

The interest rate for these investment margin account borrowings fluctuates based on the Federal Funds 
Rate plus 50 basis points with interest only payable monthly. The interest rate as of September 30, 2025 was 
4.75%. These investment margin account borrowings do not mature. 
 
Management Incentive Plan/New Profit-Sharing Incentive Program 
  

In fiscal 1987, the Company implemented a Management Incentive Plan (the “Legacy Incentive Plan”) 
that entitles a participant to participate in pretax earnings before adjustment for certain items of the 
Company for ten years. It was later expanded as a separate program for selected staff of Journal 
Technologies, based on the subsidiary’s results. This latter plan was expanded under previous leadership in 
February 2022 to include virtually all Journal Technologies employees. In 2023, management paused the 
program recognizing there would be an inadvertent future diluting effect on the shareholders’ interest when 
additional staff are hired as Journal Technologies grows. More generally, in order to reevaluate and ensure a 
sustainable long-term program and incentive model, the Company decided to suspend new grants under all 
Legacy Incentive Plans associated with the traditional business, Journal Technologies, and so-called 
consolidated units (based on employees driving corporate-wide results). The remaining Legacy Incentive 
Plan liability is included in the Company’s current and non-current accrued liabilities within the consolidated 
balance sheets (see Note 8). 
 

Following a consultative and highly sensitive internal process at Journal Technologies, management 
successfully migrated all Journal Technologies employees to a new, replacement plan (the “New Plan”) 
effective May 9, 2025, whereby additional employees added to the program are dilutive relative to a specific 
percentage of profits allocated to the program, rather than being added to the program in an accretive way. 
This new discretionary profit-sharing incentive program still provides all eligible Journal Technologies 
employees with units as non-transferable, non-negotiable incentive units issued through certificates. The 
units do not represent equity or any ownership interest in the Company or Daily Journal Corporation. Under 
the New Plan, the Company is expected to approve a program percentage for the coming year at the outset of 
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each new fiscal year. The amount available for distribution, if any, is based on this designated portion of the 
Company’s annual pretax profits adjusted for certain items, and amounts are allocated among eligible 
participants based primarily on the number of incentive units allocated to them on a prescriptive basis 
(predominately level of responsibility, but length of employment is also a factor). Key to enabling a transition 
of pre-existing entitlements, employee expectations are for an allocation of 20%, to provide approximate 
parity with the old program entitlements. However, to enable a roughly lateral transition for some senior 
employees, certain legacy units from the Legacy Incentive Plan needed to be converted into additional units 
under the New Plan; these converted legacy units generally retain their original expiration terms and are 
funded from a separate temporary allocation. 
  

The estimated Legacy Incentive Plan’s future commitment for certain Journal Technologies is based on 
inputs of an average of the past year and the current year pretax earnings before certain items, discounted to 
the present value at 6% as each granted Certificate will expire over its remaining life term of up to 10 years. 
As of September 30, 2025, there were 644,000 remaining units with a weighted average remaining life of 2.53 
years. Significant increases or decreases in these inputs would result in a significantly lower or higher fair 
value measurement. 
  
Real Estate Loan          
  

In November 2015, the Company purchased a 30,700 square foot office building constructed in 1998 on 
approximately 3.6 acres in Logan, Utah that had been previously leased for Journal Technologies. The 
Company paid $1.24 million and financed the balance with a real estate bank loan of $2.26 million which had 
a fixed interest rate of 4.66%. This loan is secured by the Logan facility and can be paid off at any time without 
prepayment penalty. In October 2020, the Company executed an amendment to lower the interest rate of 
this loan to a fixed rate of 3.33% for the remaining 10 years. This real estate loan had a balance of 
approximately $0.8 million as of September 30, 2025. 
  
Defined Contribution Plan 
  

Effective January 1, 2023, the Company began sponsoring a 401(k) retirement plan and a non-qualified 
deferred compensation plan for its employees. The 401(k) retirement plan is a defined contribution plan 
available to employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can contribute up 
to 100% of their current compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. The Company 
matches 50% of the 401(k) contribution up to 4% of total compensation. Employer contributions to the 
retirement plan were $0.5 million and $0.6 million for fiscal years 2025 and 2024, respectively. As of 
September 30, 2025, there were deferred compensation liabilities of approximately $1.6 million of which 
$1.4 million were held under a trust account for the non-qualified deferred compensation plan. As of 
September 30, 2024, there were deferred compensation liabilities of approximately $0.8 million of which all 
were held under a trust account for the 409(A) plan. 

 
Leases 
  

 As of September 30, 2025, the Company had a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability of 
approximately $37 thousand for its operating office and equipment leases. As of September 30, 2024, the 
Company had an ROU asset and lease liability of approximately $126 thousand for its operating office and 
equipment leases. Operating office and equipment leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, 
current accrued liabilities and long-term accrued liabilities in the Company’s accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. 
  
10. Net Income Per Share 
  

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed using the treasury 
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stock method by dividing net income by the weighted average number of dilutive common shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted shares outstanding is calculated by adding to the weighted average 
shares outstanding any potential dilutive securities outstanding for the period. Potential dilutive securities 
for the Company include only unvested restricted stock units. 
  

The Company’s basic and diluted net income per share was as follows (in thousands, except share and 
per share amounts): 
  

    Years Ended September 30,   
    2025     2024   
Numerator:                 

Net income   $ 112,137     $ 78,113   
Denominator:                 

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding     1,377,426       1,377,026   
Effect of dilutive securities     77       -   
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding     1,377,503       1,377,026   

                  
Basic EPS   $ 81.41     $ 56.73   
Diluted EPS   $ 81.41     $ 56.73   

  
 
11. Segments Information 
  

The key factors used to identify the reportable segments are the organization of the Company’s 
businesses and alignment of its internal operations. Operating segments are defined as components of an 
enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. 
  

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, serving as the CODM, reviews consolidated financial data to 
allocate resources and assess performance. The CODM focuses on consolidated net income (loss) from the 
statements of operations, comparing results with prior periods, forecasts, and relevant expenditure 
categories for each segment. 
  

The Company identifies its reportable segments based on the nature of the products and services 
provided and the manner in which the CODM manages the business and allocates resources between (i) the 
Traditional Business, which consists of newspaper publishing, advertising, circulation, and related 
information services, and (ii) Journal Technologies, which provides case management software and related 
services to courts and other justice agencies. Accordingly, Traditional Business revenues are comprised of 
advertising, circulation, and advertising service fees and other, while Journal Technologies revenues are 
comprised of licensing and maintenance fees, consulting fees, and other public service fees. All inter-
segment transactions were eliminated. Corporate is presented below as a non-operating segment to 
reconcile segment results to the Company’s consolidated financial statement line-item totals. Additional 
details about each of the reportable segments and its income and expenses are set forth below: 
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Overall Financial Results (in thousands) for the twelve months ended September 30  
                                                   
    Reportable Segments                                   

    
Traditional 
Business     

Journal 
Technologies     Corporate       Total   

    2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024   
Revenues                                                                 

Advertising   $ 10,081     $ 9,325     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 10,081     $ 9,325   
Circulation     4,269       4,462       —       —       —       —       4,269       4,462   
Advertising service fees 

and other     3,412       3,039       —       —       —       —       3,412       3,039   
Licensing and 

maintenance fees     —       —       31,720       28,265       —       —       31,720       28,265   
Consulting fees     —       —       22,735       15,086       —       —       22,735       15,086   
Other public service fees     —       —       15,483       9,754       —       —       15,483       9,754   

Total operating revenues     17,762       16,826       69,938       53,105       —       —       87,700       69,931   
Operating expenses                                                                 

Personnel     10,467       9,492       44,032       36,998       2,967       395       57,466       46,885   
Other segment items*     7,460       5,360       13,246       13,616       —       —       20,706       18,976   

Total operating expenses     17,927       14,852       57,278       50,614       2,967       395       78,172       65,861   
Income from operations     (165 )     1,974       12,660       2,491       (2,967 )     —       9,528       4,070   

Dividends and interest 
income     —       —       —       —       7,459       7,102       7,459       7,102   

Interest expense     —       —       —       —       (1,381 )     (3,087 )     (1,381 )     (3,087 ) 
Net realized and unrealized 

gains on marketable 
securities     —       —       —       —       134,304       96,142       134,304       96,142   

Other     —       —       —       —       177       51       177       51   
Pretax income     (165 )     1,974       12,660       2,491       137,592       100,208       150,087       104,278   
Income tax benefit (expense)     180       (395 )     (3,665 )     (735 )     (34,465 )     (25,035 )     (37,950 )     (26,165 ) 
Net income   $ 15     $ 1,579     $ 8,995     $ 1,756     $ 103,127     $ 75,173     $ 112,137     $ 78,113   

  
* Other segment items within net income (loss) include rental income, net unrealized gains on non-

qualified compensation plan, interest expense on note payable collateralized by real estate, decrease in fair 
value of derivative asset, agency commissions, outside services, postage and delivery expenses, newsprint 
and printing expenses, depreciation and amortization, equipment maintenance and software, credit card 
merchant discount fees, rent expenses, accounting and legal fees, and other general and administrative 
expenses. 

 
During fiscal 2025, the Company’s revenues were primarily generated in the United States. Revenues 

from foreign countries and U.S. territories were approximately $11.9 million, or 13.5% (approximately 14%) of 
total revenues, and were attributable to the Journal Technologies segment. The following table presents 
revenues by country and territory (in thousands): 
  

Country/ Territory  Revenue   As a % of total revenue  

Australia   $ 10,067       11.5 % 
Canada     686       0.8   
Guam     674       0.8   
Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands     428       0.5   
Total   $ 11,855       13.5 % 

  
The measure of segment assets reviewed by the CODM is the consolidated total assets, as reported on 

the consolidated balance sheet. The following table presents the measure of segment assets regularly 
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provided to the CODM (in thousands): 
  

    
Traditional 
Business     

Journal 
Technologies     Corporate     Total   

    2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024     2025     2024   
Total assets   $ 22,701     $ 14,486     $ 32,422     $ 29,838     $ 492,995     $ 359,439     $ 548,118     $ 403,763   
  

 The Company’s long-lived assets, which consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, net, and 
operating lease right-of-use assets, are primarily located in the United States. As of September 30, 2025 and 
2024, no individual country other than the U.S. accounted for 10% or more of these assets. 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 

over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934. To assess the effectiveness of these controls, management applied the criteria outlined in the 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) (2013 framework). The Company’s ICFR has been designed to provide 
reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and 
fair presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). All internal controls, no matter how well designed, have inherent 
limitations. Because of these inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in ICFR such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim 
consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 
  

Based on that evaluation and applicable SEC rules, management identified remaining material 
weaknesses in ICFR as of September 30, 2025. A previous material weakness was remediated during fiscal 
year 2025. 
  
Segregation of duties and revenue review controls 
  

The Company continues to have material weaknesses related to segregation of duties, review controls 
related to the design, implementation, and operation of controls over revenue recognition and associated 
deferred revenue process that originated and were disclosed in prior periods. While management has 
implemented additional controls and made meaningful progress during fiscal year 2025, the Company was 
not able to fully remediate the material weaknesses by September 30, 2025. Management’s remediation 
efforts continue, as described below, and management is confident in its ability to achieve a full remediation 
in fiscal year 2026. 
  
Remediation Plan and Progress 
  

At the request of the Board of Directors, the Company engaged an independent third-party advisory firm 
to support management in evaluating and strengthening the Company’s ICFR. In addition to fully remediating 
prior material weakness regarding insufficient accounting resources, management believes the Company 
made significant progress during fiscal 2025 in remediating the segregation of duties and revenue review 
controls weaknesses. This included implementing administrative access controls for specific systems, 
modernizing the finance function by clearly defining roles and responsibilities, and reassessing, redesigning, 
and implementing new controls specifically targeted to mitigate the previously identified material 
weaknesses. However, in order to conclude that a material weakness has been remediated, management 
must obtain evidence that the relevant controls have been properly designed and have operated effectively 
for a sufficient period of time. Because certain controls were newly implemented or substantially enhanced 
during fiscal 2025, additional time is required to evaluate the operating effectiveness of the newly designed 
and implemented controls before concluding that the material weaknesses have been remediated. 
Specifically: 
  
  ● During fiscal year 2025, the Company increased the size and experience level of its finance 

organization, in order to strengthen technical accounting expertise, enhance review and monitoring 
activities, and improve segregation of duties. 

   
  ● In the third quarter of fiscal year 2025, the Company implemented enterprise resource planning 

(“ERP”) for its subsidiary Journal Technologies. The Company is continuing its ERP modernization 
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efforts for its Traditional Business, which management believes will further enhance system-based 
segregation of duties, workflow approvals, and user-access controls. 

   
 ● Effective December 12, 2025, Erik Nakamura was appointed as the Company’s Chief Financial 

Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer. This leadership transition is 
expected to further support the Company’s remediation efforts, including enhancing oversight and 
review procedures and strengthening segregation of duties. 

   
 ● Management intends to continue to work with third-party advisors during fiscal year 2026 to further 

enhance the Company’s ICFR and to evaluate whether any remaining material weaknesses have 
been fully remediated. 

  
The Company will also continue to utilize certain mitigating controls, including enhanced management 

review procedures, analytical reviews, and Board-level oversight designed to help identify potential errors or 
misstatements. These monitoring activities include periodic review and comparative analysis of financial and 
operational information with prior periods by department supervisors, the CEO, the CFO, and the Board of 
Directors. The Company will continue to evaluate and refine its compensating controls as part of its 
remediation strategy and plans to reassess the operating effectiveness of its controls early in fiscal year 
2026. 
  

Although a material weakness indicates that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, management is not aware of any material 
misstatements in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2025. 
  
 
 

 
 



54  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS 
ON THE CONTROLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  
 
To the shareholders and the board of directors of Daily Journal Corporation: 
  
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Daily Journal Corporation (the “Company”) as of 
September 30, 2025 and 2024, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2025 
and 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
  
Basis for Opinion 
  
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public 
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to 
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
  
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
  
Critical Audit Matter 
  
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to 
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, 
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, 
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 
  
DETERMINATION OF PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS AND REVENUE RECOGNITION IN SOFTWARE REVENUE 
CONTRACTS 
  
Critical Audit Matter Description 
  
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Journal Technologies segment generates 
revenues from contracts related to the sale of products and services including subscription software licenses, 
maintenance and support, implementation consulting services, and hosting services. The Company recognizes 
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revenues for these services when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.  
We identified the Company’s determination of distinct performance obligations in software revenue contracts and 
their effect on revenue recognition as a critical audit matter. Auditing the Company’s determination of distinct 
performance obligations related to its subscription software license products, maintenance and support services, 
implementation consulting services, and hosting services involved complex auditor judgment. In particular, 
significant judgment was required when assessing whether the promised products and services are separate 
performance obligations or inputs to a combined performance obligation, due to the evaluation of the 
interdependency or interrelation of the promised products and services within each contract. 
  
How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit 
  

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 
  
  ● Obtaining an understanding of the Company’s revenue recognition policy and evaluated for appropriateness. 
  ● Evaluating the design and implementation of internal controls related to the Company’s revenue recognition 

process. 
  ● Evaluating whether services promised by the Company meet the criteria to be identified as separate or 

combined performance obligations, through a review of contracts, discussions with management, and 
inquiries of personnel outside the accounting function to corroborate our understanding of certain terms and 
conditions present in the contracts. More specifically, we evaluated the Company’s determination of 
whether the contract was to deliver (1) multiple promised products or services that constitute separate 
performance obligations or (2) a single performance obligation that is comprised of the combined products 
or services. 

  ● Testing a sample of software revenue contracts for proper revenue recognition by inspecting the underlying 
customer agreements and supporting documentation, and evaluating for consistency with the Company’s 
revenue recognition policies. 

  
/s/ Baker Tilly US, LLP 
  
  
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 
  
Irvine, California 
  
December 29, 2025        
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